
 

 

Lancashire County Council 
 
Pension Fund Committee 
 
Friday, 29th November, 2013 at 10.45 am in Cabinet Room 'D' - The Henry 
Bolingbroke Room, County Hall, Preston  
 
Agenda 
 
Part 1 (Open to Press and Public) 
 
No. Item  
 
1. Apologies    

 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary 

Interests   
 

 Members are asked to consider any Pecuniary and 
Non-Pecuniary Interests they may have to disclose to 
the meeting in relation to matters under consideration 
on the Agenda. 

 

 
3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 September 2013   (Pages 1 - 8) 

 To be confirmed, and signed by the chair.  
 
4. Exclusion of Press and Public    

 The Committee is asked to consider whether, under 
Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, it 
considers that the public should be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of 
business on the grounds that there would be a likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
appropriate paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act, 1972, as indicated against the 
heading to the item. 

 

 
Part II (Not open to Press and Public) 
 
5. Investment Performance Report   (Pages 9 - 20) 

 (Not for Publication – Exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act, 1972.  It is considered that in all the 
circumstances of the case the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interests in disclosing the information). 

 

 
6. Investment Panel Report   (Pages 21 - 40) 



 (Not for Publication – Exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act, 1972.  It is considered that in all the 
circumstances of the case the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interests in disclosing the information). 

 

 
Part I (Open to Press and Public) 
 
7. Actuarial Valuation of the Lancashire County 

Pension Fund 2013   
(Pages 41 - 48) 

 
8. Pension Fund Training Plan 2013-15   (Pages 49 - 60) 

 
9. Shareholder Voting, Engagement, and Fiduciary 

Duty   
(Pages 61 - 106) 

 
10. Statement of Investment Principles   (Pages 107 - 120) 

 
11. External Audit report   (Pages 121 - 146) 

 
12. Urgent Business    

 An item of urgent business may only be considered 
under this heading where, by reason of special 
circumstances to be recorded in the Minutes, the Chair 
of the meeting is of the opinion that the item should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.  
Wherever possible, the Chief Executive should be given 
advance warning of any Member’s intention to raise a 
matter under this heading. 

 

 
13. Date of Next Meeting    

 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on 
Friday 27 March 2014 at 10.00 a.m. at County Hall, 
Preston. 

 

 
 I M Fisher 

County Secretary and Solicitor 
 

County Hall 
Preston 
 
 

 

 



 
 
Lancashire County Council 
 
Pension Fund Committee 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Friday, 6th September, 2013 at 10.45 am in 
The Duke of Lancaster Room (Formerly Cabinet Room 'C'), County Hall, 
Preston 
 
 
Present: 

County Councillor Terry Burns (Chair) 
 

County Councillors 
 

L Beavers 
D Borrow 
M Brindle 
G Dowding 
K Iddon 
J Lawrenson 
 

R Newman-Thompson 
J Oakes 
M Parkinson 
D Westley 
P White 
B Yates 
 

Co-opted members 
 

Bob Harvey, (Trade Union representative) 
Jane McCann, (HE/FE sector establishments 
representative) 
Councillor Dorothy Walsh, (Blackburn with Darwen 
Borough Council representative) 
Ron Whittle, (Trade Union representative) 
 

1. Apologies 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors I Grant, P Leadbetter and 
M Smith. 
 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary Interests 

 
None. 
 
3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 June 2013 

 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2013 were presented. 
 
It was reported that several members had experienced difficulties completing the 
Knowledge and Skills Framework self assessment.  It was agreed that any further 
completion of the self assessment should be halted and that a training and 
development plan be developed for consideration by the Committee.  The plan 
would include training that could be provided by the Fund's Actuary, Fund 
Managers and via bite size briefings, as well as elements of the Hymans 
Robertson self assessment tool.  
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 
 

Resolved:  
 
1. That the proposed training and development plan be noted. 
 
2. That the Minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2013 be confirmed and 

signed by the chair. 
 
4. Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
Resolved: That the press and members of the public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items of business on the grounds 
that there would be a likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the 
paragraph of Part 1 of schedule 12A to the Local Government Act, 1972, 
indicated against the heading to the item.  It was considered that in all the 
circumstances the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
5. Investment Performance Report 

 
(Exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act, 1972.  It was considered that in all the circumstances of 
the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information) 
 
The Committee considered a report on the performance of the Fund as at 30 
June 2013, focussing on the key areas of: 
 

• the funding position; 

• cash flow; 

• investment performance;  

• management performance;  

• investment allocations; and  

• risk management of the Fund including credit, liquidity, investment and 
operational risks. 

 
Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 
6. Investment Panel Report 

 
(Exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act, 1972.  It was considered that in all the circumstances of 
the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information) 
 
The Committee received a report from the Investment Panel setting out the work 
of the Panel at its meetings held on 7 and 11 June and 24 July 2013.  The 
Committee's attention was specifically drawn to the following key areas: 
 

• The Investment Context in which the Fund was operating 

Page 2



 
 

• Private Equity and Property Strategies 

• Further Allocations for discussion 

• Investment Decisions 

• Advisory Boards  
 

Resolved: That the report be noted. 
 
7. Application to become the single Pension Fund for Probation Staff 

 
(Exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A 
to the Local Government Act, 1972.  It was considered that in all the 
circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighed the public interest in disclosing the information) 
 
This item was unavailable when the agenda was despatched and the Chair of the 
meeting agreed, in accordance with agenda item 13 (Urgent Business), that the 
report should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency to enable the 
proposal, as mentioned below, to continue through selection process.  
 
The Committee considered a report on the County Council's submission, as 
administering authority of Lancashire County Pension Fund (LCPF), of an 
application proposal to host a single pension scheme for the entities created by 
the Ministry of Justice as part of the Transforming Rehabilitation programme. 
 
The Ministry of Justice had sought applications from administering authorities 
during the summer to host a single pension fund for Probation staff and new 
entities created as part of this Programme. The Committee noted that the County 
Treasurer had, in consultation with the Chair of the Committee, submitted the 
application proposal set out at Appendix 'A'. 
 
The Ministry of Justice had now requested confirmation that, if successful, the 
proposal was supported and authorised by the Council of the administering 
authority.  The Committee noted that the confirmation was needed to enable the 
LCPF proposal to continue through selection process.  
 
Resolved: That the application proposal of Lancashire County Council, as 
administering authority of Lancashire County Pension Fund, to host a single 
pension scheme for the entities created by the Ministry of Justice as part of the 
Transforming Rehabilitation programme, as set out at Appendix 'A', be approved. 
 
The Committee then returned to the remaining Part I agenda items. 
 
 
8. Private Equity Strategy 

 
The Committee considered a report on a proposed new private equity strategy.  
 
The Fund had a long standing private equity programme and as part of its 
programme of work to review the investment strategy in relation to each asset 

Page 3



 
 

class, the Investment Panel had reviewed the Fund's strategy in relation to 
private equity, which encompassed a wide range of investments from start ups 
and venture capital to large scale buy outs.  
  
Details of the current strategy and the proposed new private equity strategy, 
including authorisations required for its implementation, as recommended by the 
Investment Panel, were presented at Appendix 'A'. 
 
Resolved: That the new private equity strategy and the authorisations required 
to implement it, as set out at Appendix 'A', be approved. 
 
9. Property Investment Strategy 

 
The Committee considered a report on a revised strategy for property investment. 
 
The Fund had a long standing property portfolio and as part of its programme of 
work to review the investment strategy in relation to each asset class, the 
Investment Panel had reviewed the Fund's strategy in relation to property in the 
context of the Fund's overall investment strategy. 
 
Details of the revised property investment strategy, as recommended by the 
Investment Panel, were presented at Appendix 'A'. 
 
Resolved: That the revised strategy for property investment, as set out at 
Appendix 'A' and in particular: 
 

a) The target long term absolute return target of 8% per annum. 
b) The split of the total property allocation between a diversified core portfolio 

representing 70%-80% of the allocation and a specialist / opportunity 
portfolio representing 20%-30% of the total allocation. 

c) A limit on the gearing in funds in which the allocation can be invested of 
50%. 

 
be approved. 
 
10. Consultation on the Future Structure of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme 
 

The Committee considered a report on the Government's consultation on 
structural reform of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
 
The Minister responsible for the LGPS together with the Local Government 
Association had launched a consultation process seeking views on how the 
structure of LGPS might be reformed.  Central to this consultation, was the belief 
set out in a number of speeches by the minister that there were currently too 
many LGPS funds and that fewer larger funds would be more efficient and 
effective in a range of ways. 
 
The Committee considered a draft response (Appendix 'B') to this consultation on 
behalf of the Fund. The basic line taken was in favour of increasing collaboration, 

Page 4



 
 

an area where the Lancashire fund already had strong credentials and against 
forced mergers. There were a number of reasons for this. Firstly forcing mergers 
was likely to create some significant issues around accountability to stakeholders 
in the new much larger funds. Secondly a belief that while funds could be too 
small, the converse was also true and funds could be too big and that the LGPS 
should therefore be aiming for the right size funds, although there was no 
evidence to indicate that larger funds necessarily performed better than smaller 
ones. 
 
The key factor which was emphasised in the draft response was that all moves 
which aimed to professionalise the way in which LGPS funds were run were 
supported as this in itself had the potential to drive both performance and bring 
out areas where costs could be reduced. Again this was an area where the Fund 
had significant and useful recent experience. 
 
Members expressed concerns about the objective of Pension Funds being 
required to provide greater investment in infrastructure.  It was agreed that 
infrastructure investments should only be made where such investments offered 
the best possible return for the Fund and officers were asked to strengthen the 
consultation response to reflect the views of the Committee in this area. 
  
Resolved: That, subject to the above amendment, the draft response to the 
consultation on structural reform of the Local Government Pension Scheme, as 
set out at Appendix 'B', be approved. 
 
11. Annual Report and Accounts of the Fund - 2012/13 

 
The Committee considered the Annual Report and Accounts of the Pension Fund 
for 2012/13.  
 
It was noted that the Statement of Accounts was currently being audited by the 
external auditor and the auditor’s opinion, together with any changes required as 
a result of the audit process would be included in the published Annual Report, 
when this had been completed. 
 
A copy of the Annual Report 2012/13 was presented at Appendix ‘A’.  The 
content of the Annual Report included the following sections: 
 

• An overview of the management and financial performance of the fund; 

• The Governance Compliance Statement; 

• Administration of the Fund; 

• Knowledge and Skills Framework 

• Investments of the Fund; 

• The accounts and financial statements; 

• Actuarial Valuation; 

• The Governance Policy Statement; 

• The Communication Policy Statement; 

• The Funding Strategy Statement; 

• The Statement of Investment Principles 

Page 5



 
 

 
It was noted that the County Council’s Constitution required the Pension Fund 
Annual Report to be approved by the Committee and submitted to the Full 
Council for information.   
 
Resolved:   That the 2012/13 Lancashire County Pension Fund Annual Report, 
as now presented, be approved for submission to the Full Council. 
 
12. UK Stewardship Code compliance 

 
The Committee considered a report on the adoption of a compliance statement to 
the UK Stewardship Code. 
 
The Committee was informed that the Financial Reporting Council strongly 
encouraged all institutional investors to publish a statement on their website on 
the extent to which they had complied with the seven principles of the UK 
Stewardship Code. Whilst the Stewardship Code was principally aimed at asset 
managers, other institutional investors, including pension funds, were 
encouraged to report under it. 
 
A copy of the Stewardship Code and the proposed compliance statement to the 
Code by the Lancashire County Pension Fund were presented at Appendix 'A' 
and Appendix 'B' respectively. It was noted that the adoption of the statement 
would ensure the Fund's compliance with the Code. 
 
Resolved: That the Stewardship Code Compliance Statement, as set out at 
Appendix 'B', be approved. 
 
13. Fund Shareholder Voting and Engagement Report 

 
The Committee considered a comprehensive report on the Fund's shareholder 
voting arrangements and activity, and engagement activity for the period 1 April 
to 30 June 2013.  
 
The Committee was informed that Pensions and Investment Research 
Consultants Ltd (PIRC) act as the Fund's proxy and cast the Fund's votes on its 
investments at company shareholder meetings.  PIRC were instructed to vote in 
accordance with their guidelines unless the Fund instructed otherwise.  It was 
agreed that the training and development plan agreed earlier in the meetings 
should include a session on the role and work of PIRC and the Local Authority 
Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF). 
 
It was noted that the Fund had voted on 2,866 occasions during this period and 
had opposed or abstained in 29% of votes. 
 
The Committee received details of live class actions in relation to companies in 
which the Lancashire County Pension Fund had previously or currently owned 
shares. 
 
Resolved:  

Page 6



 
 

 
1. That the report be noted. 
 
2. That a session on the role and work of PIRC and LAPFF, in addition to a 

session on class actions, be included in the Fund's proposed training and 
development plan.  

 
14. Urgent Business 

 
The chair agreed that an item relating to an application for the Lancashire County 
Pension Fund to become the single Pension Fund for Probation Staff should be 
considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency to enable the proposal to 
continue through the selection process.  The report was considered under Part II 
of the agenda for the reasons explained above.    
 
15. Date of Next Meeting 

 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Friday 29 
November 2013 at 10.00 am at County Hall, Preston. 
 
 
 I M Fisher 

County Secretary and Solicitor 
  
County Hall 
Preston 

 

 
 

Page 7



Page 8



Agenda Item 5

Page 9

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 10



Page 11

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 16



P
age 17

(N
O

T
 F

O
R

 P
U

B
LIC

A
T

IO
N

: B
y virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of P

art 1 of S
chedule 12A

 of the Local G
overnm

ent
A

ct 1972.  It is considered that all the circum
stances of the case the public interest in m

aintaining the
exem

ption outw
eighs the public interest in disclosing the inform

ation)

D
ocum

ent is R
estricted



P
age 18



Page 19

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 20



Agenda Item 6

Page 21

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 22



Page 23

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 30



Page 31

(NOT FOR PUBLICATION: By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government
Act 1972.  It is considered that all the circumstances of the case the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information)

Document is Restricted



Page 40



 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
Meeting to be held on 29 November 2013  
 

Electoral Division affected: 
None 

 
Actuarial Valuation of the Lancashire County Pension Fund 2013 
(Appendix 'A' refers) 
 
Contact for further information:  
George Graham, (01772 538102), County Treasurer's Directorate 
george.graham@lancashire.gov.uk  
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
Every three years the Fund's actuary is required to undertake a formal valuation of 
the Fund in order to set employer contribution rates for the coming three years. The 
detailed valuation of the Fund based on the assets and liabilities at 31 March 2013 
and John Livesey from Mercer (the Fund's actuary) will be presenting the results to 
the Committee. 
 
Following the Valuation the Committee needs to determine the way in which the 
Fund will achieve both the bridging of the deficit within the Fund and a sustainable 
contribution plan for employers and proposals in relation to this are set out at 
Appendix 'A'. 
 
If agreed with stakeholders following consultation these proposals will form the core 
of the Funding Strategy Statement which the Fund is required to produce after each 
valuation. 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Committee is asked to: 
 
i. Note the results of the actuarial valuation; 

 
ii. Approve the measures in relation to the setting of contribution rates set out in 

Appendix 'A' for consultation with stakeholders as part of the preparation of 
the Funding Strategy Statement. 

 

 
Background and Advice  
 
It is a statutory requirement that every three years the actuary undertake a valuation 
of the Pension Fund in order to set appropriate levels of employer contributions for 
the coming three years. This report and the accompanying presentation by the 
actuary set out the results of the latest valuation and proposals for setting 
contribution rates in the light of the results. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 41



 
 

Consultations 
 
Agreement of this report and the proposed framework for setting contribution rates 
will result in the beginning of a process of consultation with stakeholders. 
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
The setting of contribution rates and valuation assumptions involves a range of risks, 
for example assumptions around take up of the new 50/50 option within the 2014 
scheme. Analysis of these risks is reflected in coming to an overall contribution plan 
and package of assumptions.  
 
There is a clear risk that the results of the valuation process may make the scheme 
unaffordable for some employers (particularly smaller ones) and the Fund's officers 
will take steps to handle this situation where it occurs in a sensitive way that protects 
the interests of all parties to the greatest possible extent. 
 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
N/A   
   
Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 
 

Page 42



Appendix 'A' 
 

2013 Actuarial Valuation of the Lancashire County Pension Fund 

 
Introduction 
 
This report presents the results of the 2013 actuarial valuation process at whole 
Fund level for consideration by the Committee in order to enable formal 
consultation with stakeholders on issues to be included in the revised Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS). 
 
Consultation has already begun with individual employers in order to fit in with the 
budgetary timetables which they adopt. 
 
Background 
 
Every three years the Fund's Actuary is required to carry out a formal valuation of 
the Fund in order to set employer contribution rates for the next three years. 
 
The valuation currently being undertaken is based on the position of the Fund at 
31 March 2013.  However, it must also take into account a number of other specific 
forward looking factors such as the change in the benefit structure of the Local 
Government Pension Scheme from 1 April 2014 which will impact on the rate at 
which members build up new benefits. 
 
The valuation is also taking place in the context of 
 

• The ongoing reductions in the public sector workforce particularly in local 
government which results in fewer active members contributing to the scheme. 
 

• The ongoing dislocation of the bond markets which affects the discount rate the 
actuary uses to value the Fund's liabilities. 

 
As previously reported to the March meeting of the Committee all these factors 
combine to make this probably the most challenging valuation in the history of 
LGPS. 
 
At its March meeting the Committee endorsed a number of propositions to 
underpin the valuation process, specifically 
 

• The use of a tailored assumption on pay growth in the earlier years of the 
valuation model to reflect the impact of public sector pay restraint. 
 

• The development of fund specific assumptions around life expectancy. 
 

• The use, where appropriate of assumptions around the normalisation of bond 
yields to replace previous assumptions of Increased Inestment Return. 

 

• The conversion of deficit recovery contributions to fixed cash amounts rather 
than a percentage of payroll. 

Page 43



 

• Changes in the way in which the pension strain that results from early 
retirements is dealt with. 

 

• An initial intention to bring the deficit recovery period down to 16 years (see 
below). 

 
Valuation Results 
 
The Fund's Actuary will present the results for the whole fund to the Committee.  It 
should be emphasised that at this valuation there are significant differences 
between the results for different employers and these differences are much greater 
than has been seen previously. 
 
At headline whole fund level the overall funding level based on the various updated 
assumptions is around 78% as at the 31 March 2013, compared to 80% at March 
2010. This differs from the figures in the regular performance reports because of 
the revised assumptions.  Given the significant negative movements in key 
elements such as the discount rate this should be seen as a positive result for the 
Fund.   
 
The overall deficit on the Fund has increased from £0.993bn to £1.590bn.  
As illustrated on the graph below the movement in the cash value of the deficit has 
been due to those factors which cannot be influenced by either the Fund or 
employers. Those factors which can be influenced have moved favourably. 
 

 
 
 
 

Deficit 

at 31 

March 

2010

Interest 

on 

Deficit

Investm

ent 

returns 

vs 

accump

tions

Contrib

utions 

paid vs 

benefits 

accruin

g

Salary 

gain

Change 

in 

demogr

aphic 

assump

tions

Change 

in 

financia

l 

assump

tions

Membe

r 

movem

ents 

and 

other 

factors

Deficit 

at 31 

March 

2013

Value £m -993 -201 271 66 235 -76 -843 -51 -1590

-2000

-1500

-1000

-500

0

500

£m

Analysis of Change in 2010 Deficit Position to 

2013 Baseline Position

Page 44



These results clearly present a challenging position in terms of achieving the 
Fund's objectives of stable and affordable levels of employer contributions. 
 
Achieving a Sustainable Contribution Plan 
 
The key objective for the Fund is dealing with the valuation results must be to 
achieve a sustainable contribution plan which, all other things being equal, will 
make inroads in to the current deficit and create a situation where future service 
contributions are broadly matching liabilities as they build up.  Given the 
considerable level of uncertainty both in terms of future movements in the financial 
markets and the real impact of changes in the LGPS scheme design this presents 
a very significant challenge. 
 
To deal with this challenge it is proposed to reflect the following within the valuation 
as applied to individual employer contributions. 
 

• A deficit recovery period of 19 years (unchanged from the 2010 valuation).  This 
reflects the relative stability of the funding level and while a case might be made 
for extending the period further, for some employers, it is felt by fund officers 
and the actuary that to do so could be seen as imprudent particularly given the 
likely impact on funding levels of further reductions in employers' staffing levels. 
 

• An assumption of 10% take up of the 50/50 option within the new scheme 
design in line with the assumptions made by the Government Actuary.  If reality 
is that fewer than 10% of members take up this option employers will be 
underpaying future service contributions.  Equally if more than 10% take up the 
option they will effect be making additional deficit contributions. 

 

• Allowing for some of the impact of movements in bond yields between April 
2013 and August 2013, in setting contributions. 

 

• Where relevant adjusting the period over which it is assumed bond yields will 
revert to the mean (i.e. back to "normal") from 10 years to 5 years. 

 

• Ensuring the new Future Service Contribution rates are paid in full from 1 April 
2014.  All other things being equal this means that contributions and new 
liabilities should build up in line with each other avoiding the deficit increasing. 

 

• Allowing phasing of the increase in deficit contributions over the three years of 
the valuation period, but within this requiring that the inflationary increase is 
paid each year and the phasing results in the full payment by year 3.  Because 
deficit contributions are now to be expressed as cash this means employers 
and the Fund will have transparency over the degree to which phasing results in 
underpayment towards the deficit (in effect an increase in the deficit recovery 
period).  This gives employers a much clearer option around making additional 
payments against their deficit. 

 

• Not allowing any employer to reduce the cash level of contributions between 
valuations.  This allows the small number of employers in this position to make 

Page 45



greater progress in reducing their deficit which is in the interests of both the 
Fund overall and the individual employers. 

 
Taken together with the steps agreed in March these measures provide the best 
balance possible between the interests of employers in terms of affordability and 
those of the Fund in terms of being able to meet its overall liabilities as they fall 
due. 
 
Schools and Academies 
 
The increasing number of academies and free schools presents specific issues at 
this valuation as does the move to a cash value for deficit contributions in relation 
to maintained schools. 
 
In relation to Academies, the Department for Communities and Local Government 
and the Department for Education have: 
 

• Provided a form of guarantee intended to offset the risk to Pension Funds from 
the fact that academies only have a seven year funding agreement.  While in 
many ways this guarantee is deficient the Government's intention is clearly that 
academies should be treated in terms of covenant in the same way as 
maintained schools. 
 

• Consulted on "pooling" arrangements for academies.  In practice this would 
mean that each Academy while retaining its own share of the deficit will have 
the same Future Service Contribution rate. 

 
In relation to these issues it is proposed: 
 
1. To treat academies as "ongoing" institutions in the same way as maintained 

schools. 
 

2. To create three Academy pools, one for each Education Authority from which 
academies have transferred. This is likely to result in less movement in future 
service rates for the individual institutions. 

 
For maintained schools the issue is that within the framework that exists for funding 
schools it is not possible to charge individual schools a fixed cash contribution to 
the deficit, nor is it practical as it would mean treating a further 700+ institutions as 
though they were separate employers.  It is therefore proposed that for maintained 
schools deficit contributions are set as a percentage of pay taking into account the 
need to ensure both a minimum fixed amount and the relevant inflationary increase 
are collected.  The relevant arrangements will need to be agreed on a case by 
case basis between the Fund's officers and the three education authorities. 
 
Next Steps 
 
A process of engagement with employers around the valuation results has already 
begun and will continue into the new calendar year.  This process will now be 
extended to include consultation on a draft Funding Strategy Statement which 

Page 46



formalises the various measures set out above and sets them alongside the Fund's 
high level investment approach. 
 
The results of this process will be reported back to the Committee during the first 
quarter of the New Year alongside the issuing by the Actuary of the final rates and 
adjustments certificate. 

Page 47



Page 48



 
 

Pension Fund Committee  
Meeting to be held on 29 November 2013 
 

Electoral Division affected: 
None 

 
Pension Fund Training Plan 2013-15 
(Appendix 'A' refers) 
 
Contact for further information: 
Gill Kilpatrick, (01772) 534715, County Treasurer's Directorate 
Gill.kilpatrick@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
In order to ensure best practice within the Fund, and to comply with the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013, a Training Plan for those charged with governance and 
financial management of the Lancashire County Pension Fund (i.e. Committee 
Members and Officers) is developed on an annual basis. At its meeting of 7 June 
2013, the Pension Fund Committee agreed to the development of such a training 
programme. 
 
Planning and monitoring that both Committee Members and the Officers of the 
Scheme comply with these requirements is provided through the adoption of an 
annual Training Plan, which is set out at Appendix A for member's consideration. 
 
The key elements of the plan are designed to support members of the Committee in 
gaining the necessary knowledge and skills as a collective group over the following 
areas required by the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework: 

• Pension Fund governance; 

• Accounting and Audit standards; 

• Procurement of financial services; 

• Investment performance and risk management; 

• Financial markets and product knowledge; 

• Actuarial methods and valuation. 

It is comprised of a combination of internally developed training sessions, updates 
from officers and independent advisers, external events, and self-directed learning. 
 
Recommendation 

The Committee is asked: 
 
1. to approve the proposed Pension Fund Training Plan including the external 
 event approval process as set out at Appendix 'A',  
 
2.  to commit members to undertaking the training to enable the Committee to 

meet the requirements of the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework. 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



 
 

 
Background and Advice  
 
Requirements 
 
In order to ensure best practice within the Fund, and to comply with the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013, a Training Plan for those charged with governance and 
financial management of the Lancashire County Pension Fund (Committee Members 
and Officers) should be developed on an annual basis. At its meeting of 7 June 
2013, the Pension Fund Committee agreed to the development of such a training 
programme. 
 
Central to this is the tenet that the Fund should secure appropriate training, having 
assessed the professional competence of both those involved in pension scheme 
financial management and those with a policy, management and or oversight role.   
 
It is not required that each individual demonstrates a level of expertise in every 
aspect of Scheme governance and management, but rather that as a group both the 
Fund's Officers and the Committee has a level of knowledge and skills to ensure 
effective decision making. 
 
Committee Members and Officers are also required to undertake training to satisfy 
the obligations placed upon them by the: 
 

• Myners Principles (as detailed in the Statement of Investment Principles); 

• Pensions Regulations and the Pensions Regulator; 

• CIPFA Code of Practice on Public Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge and 
Skills; and the  

• LGPS Governance Compliance Statement. 
 
Approach 
 
The approach to training will be supportive in nature with the intention of providing 
committee members and officers with regular sessions that will contribute to their 
level of skills and knowledge. Primarily based upon pre-Committee training sessions, 
it may also involve updates from officers and independent advisers. Details of 
external events will also be circulated as appropriate. This is in addition to an 
expectation that committee members will undertake some self-directed learning 
outside of the formal training. Fund officers will be available to provide additional 
support and advice. 
 
The key elements of the plan are designed to support members of the Committee in 
gaining the necessary knowledge and skills as a collective group over the following 
areas required by the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework: 
 

• Pension Fund governance; 

• Accounting and Audit standards; 

• Procurement of financial services; 

• Investment performance and risk management; 

• Financial markets and product knowledge; 

• Actuarial methods and valuation. 

Page 50



 
 

It is comprised of a combination of internally developed training sessions, updates 
from officers and independent advisers, external events, and self-directed learning. 
 
Planning and monitoring that both Committee Members and the Officers of the 
Scheme comply with these requirements is provided through the adoption of an 
annual Training Plan (Appendix A). 
 
Consultations 
 
N/A  
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
Without the required knowledge and skills, those charged with governance and 
decision-making within the Pension Fund may be ill-equipped to make informed 
decisions regarding the direction and operation of it. 
 
Legal 
 
In order to comply with the Public Sector Pensions Act 2013, appropriate training 
should be secured for those individuals selected to serve on Local Government 
Pension Scheme pensions boards. 
 
Financial 
 
The cost of members and officers attending external events including conferences 
will be met by the Pension Fund.  
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
Public Services Pensions 
Act 2013 

 
April 2013 

 
Andrew Fox/ County 
Treasurer's Directorate/ 
x35916 
 

Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 
 

Page 51



Page 52



APPENDIX A 

Lancashire County Pension Fund 

Training Plan 
 

Page 53



 

Contents 
 

1. Introduction 2 

2. Rationale 2 

3. Approach 2 

4. Evaluation 3 

5. Training programme 5 

 

Appendices 

1 Indicative training plan 2013-2015 

 

 

Page 54



Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 
 

• 2 • 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This is the proposed Training Plan of Lancashire County Pension Fund 
managed by Lancashire County Council (the Administering Authority). It sets 
out a proposed rational and approach for approval by the Pension Fund 
Committee concerning the training and development of -  

• the members of the Pension Fund Committee and; 

• officers of the Pension Fund responsible for the management of the Fund.  

1.2 The overall aim of the Training Plan is to support members of the Pension 
Fund Committee in their role as a member of this Committee.

 

2. Rationale 

2.1 In order to ensure best practice within the Fund, and to comply with the Public 
Service Pensions Act 2013, a training plan for those charged with governance 
and financial management of the Lancashire County Pension Fund 
(Committee Members and Officers) should be developed on an annual basis. 
At its meeting of 7 June 2013, the Pension Fund Committee agreed to the 
development of such a training programme. 

2.2 Central to this is the tenet that the Fund should secure appropriate training, 
having assessed the professional competence of both those involved in 
pension scheme financial management and those with a policy, management 
and or oversight role.   

2.3 It is not required that each individual demonstrates a level of expertise in 
every aspect of Scheme governance and management, but rather that as a 
group both the Fund's Officers and the Committee has a level of knowledge 
and skills to ensure effective decision making. 

2.4 Committee Members and Officers are also required to undertake training to 
satisfy the obligations placed upon them by the: 

• Myners Principles (as detailed in the Statement of Investment 
Principles); 

• Pensions Regulations and the Pensions Regulator; 

• CIPFA Code of Practice on Public Sector Pensions Finance Knowledge 
and Skills; and the  

• LGPS Governance Compliance Statement. 
 

Page 55



Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 
 

• 3 • 
 

3. Approach 

3.1 The approach to training will be supportive in nature with the intention of 
providing committee members and officers with regular sessions that will 
contribute to their level of skills and knowledge. Primarily based upon pre-
Committee training sessions, it may also involve updates from officers and 
independent advisers. Details of external events will also be circulated as 
appropriate. This is in addition to an expectation that committee members will 
undertake some self-directed learning outside of the formal training. Fund 
officers will be available to provide additional support and advice. 

3.2 The key elements of the plan are designed to support members of the 
Committee in gaining the necessary knowledge and skills as a collective 
group over the following areas required by the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills 
Framework: 

• Pension Fund governance; 

• Accounting and Audit standards; 

• Procurement of financial services; 

• Investment performance and risk management; 

• Financial markets and product knowledge; 

• Actuarial methods and valuation. 

3.3 It is comprised of a combination of internally developed training sessions, 
updates from officers and independent advisers, external events, and self-
directed learning. The detailed indicative plan is attached as Appendix A. 

3.4 The Training Plans will be updated at least annually, taking account of the 
results from the Training Needs Assessments and those otherwise identified, 
and will be updated with events and training opportunities as and when they 
become available.  

 

4. Evaluation 

Pension Fund Committee members 

4.1 In order to identify training needs and assess whether we are meeting the 
training requirements we will –  

• Undertake as a Committee an annual training needs evaluation 
exercise in the form of a short self-assessment questionnaire, both 
individually and as a group in order to identify any perceived 
development needs. 

• Where the evaluation highlights that there is a knowledge gap, the 
Committee will undertake either additional internal group bespoke 
training or individual external training as appropriate. 

• The Committee will commit to an outline of internal bespoke training. 
This will be focussed around either emerging national changes or 
internal workloads (such as the introduction of a new asset class.) 

• Report as appropriate in external documentation compliance with 
knowledge and skills requirements, such as progress in the Scheme's 

Page 56



Lancashire County Pension Fund Traini
 

 

Annual Report and Accounts, and Governance Statement compliance 
with the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework and the Myners
Principles. 

 
Pension Fund officers

4.2 All senior officers with responsibility for administering and/ or managing the 
Pension Fund will be expected to 
Assessment for Pension Professionals taking account of the requirements of
their roles. Any identified training needs should form part of their ongoing 
Performance and Development Review.

4.3 Delivery of Training

Consideration will be given to various training resources available in delivering 
training to members of the Pension Fund
 
Evaluation will be given to the mode and content of training in order to ensure 
it is both targeted to needs and ongoing requirements and emerging events. It 
is to be delivered in a manner that balances both demands on Co
time and costs. These may include but are not restricted to:
 
 

For Pension Fund Committee 
members

• In-house

• Using an on-line Knowledge Library 
or other e-learning facilities

• Attending courses, seminars, and 
external events

• Internally developed training days 
and pre/ post Committee meetings

• Shared training with other Schemes 
or Frameworks

• Regular updates from officers and/ 
or independent advisers

Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 

• 4 • 

Annual Report and Accounts, and Governance Statement compliance 
with the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework and the Myners

Pension Fund officers 

All senior officers with responsibility for administering and/ or managing the 
Pension Fund will be expected to complete the CIPFA Training Needs 
Assessment for Pension Professionals taking account of the requirements of

Any identified training needs should form part of their ongoing 
Performance and Development Review. 

Delivery of Training 

Consideration will be given to various training resources available in delivering 
training to members of the Pension Fund Committee and relevant officers.

Evaluation will be given to the mode and content of training in order to ensure 
it is both targeted to needs and ongoing requirements and emerging events. It 
is to be delivered in a manner that balances both demands on Co
time and costs. These may include but are not restricted to: 

For Pension Fund Committee 
members

line Knowledge Library 
learning facilities

Attending courses, seminars, and 

Internally developed training days 
and pre/ post Committee meetings

Shared training with other Schemes 

Regular updates from officers and/ 
or independent advisers

For Officers

• Desktop/ work-based training

• Using an on-line Knowledge Library 
or other e-learning facilities

• Attending courses, seminars, and 
external events

• Training for qualifications from 
recognised professional bodies

• Internally developed sessions

• Shared training with other Schemes 
or Frameworks

Annual Report and Accounts, and Governance Statement compliance 
with the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework and the Myners 

All senior officers with responsibility for administering and/ or managing the 
he CIPFA Training Needs 

Assessment for Pension Professionals taking account of the requirements of 
Any identified training needs should form part of their ongoing 

Consideration will be given to various training resources available in delivering 
Committee and relevant officers. 

Evaluation will be given to the mode and content of training in order to ensure 
it is both targeted to needs and ongoing requirements and emerging events. It 
is to be delivered in a manner that balances both demands on Councillors 

 

For Officers

based training

line Knowledge Library 
learning facilities

Attending courses, seminars, and 

Training for qualifications from 
recognised professional bodies

Internally developed sessions

Shared training with other Schemes 

Page 57



Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 
 

• 5 • 
 

4.4 External events 

Pension Fund Committee members 

All relevant external events will be distributed to members of the Committee 
as and when they become available.  

Members will be invited to express an interest in attending an event.  The 
clerk to the Committee will receive any expressions of interest and shall liaise 
as necessary with the chair of the Committee, and the County Treasurer who 
shall under the Scheme of Delegation to Chief Officers approve the 
Committee's representation at the external event.  A number of factors will be 
used to determine the level of representation including the relevance of the 
event, associated costs and an individual's identified development needs,  

One Connect Limited will make the necessary event booking, accommodation 
and travel arrangements for members (and officers).  The cost of members 
(and officers) attending an external event will be met by the Pension Fund.  

Following attendance at an external event, Committee Members will be asked 
to provide verbal feedback at the subsequent Committee meeting to cover: 

• Their view on the value of the event and the merit, if any, of attendance; 

• A summary of the key learning points gained from attending the event; 
and 

• Recommendations of any subject matters at the event in relation to which 
training would be beneficial to Committee Members. 

 
Officers 

Following attendance at an external event, officers will be expected to report 
to their manager with feedback to cover: 

• Their view on the value of the event and the merit, if any, of attendance; 

• A summary of the key learning points gained from attending the event; 
and 

• Recommendations of any subject matters at the event in relation to which 
training would be beneficial to other officers. 

 
 

5. Training Programme 

 
The draft timetable below as Appendix 1 provides an indicative training 
programme covering areas that are likely to be necessary over the next 18 
months. In addition, other items on topical or emerging issues may be added 
as appropriate, and the training programme flexed accordingly. 
 
The indicative training plan includes details of pension related conferences 
held throughout the year. There is no expectation that members and officers 
attend such events as a matter of course, but highlights the availability of such 
training and networking opportunities and an overview of their content. 

Page 58



Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 
 

• 6 • 
 

Indicative Training Programme 2013-15 Appendix 1 
 

Ref What Who When Overview Intended audience 

1 Pre-Committee training Fund actuary - Mercers 29 November 2013 Topic - Role of the Actuary and 

Actuarial Valuation 2013 

All PFC members 

2 Conference LAPFF Annual Conference - 

Bournemouth 

4-6 December 2013 Aimed at officers and PFC members 

focussing on engagement, 

stewardship and corporate 

governance 

Officer and PFC 

members 

3 PFC training Independent advisers – Eric 

Lambert and Noel Mills* 

January 2014 Topic - Portfolios and portfolio 

construction, risks and diversification 

All PFC members 

4 PFC training Fund manager (global equities) – 

Baillie Gifford* 

February 2014 Topic – global equities and fund 

management 

All PFC members 

5 Pre-Committee training Investment Consultant – 

Redington* 

27 March 2014 Topic - Risk and liability management All PFC members 

6 Conference National Association of Pension 

Funds (NAPF) Local Authority 

Conference - Gloucestershire 

19-21 May 2014 Aimed at officers and PFC members 

– various speakers and workshops 

focussing on a wide range of pension 

topics 

Officer and PFC 

members 

7 Pre-Committee training Global custodian – Northern 

Trust* 

6 June 2014 Topic - global custody; securities 

lending; performance reporting and 

benchmarking 

All PFC members 

8 Conference CIPFA Annual Conference July 2014 Aimed at officers and councillors 

with finance-related responsibilities 

– various speakers and workshops 

focussing on public finance issues 

Officers and 

Councillors with 

finance-related 

responsibilities 

P
age 59



Lancashire County Pension Fund Training Plan 
 

• 7 • 
 

 Appendix 1 (continued) 

Ref What Who When Overview Intended audience 

9 Pre-Committee training Fund manager (private equity and 

infrastructure) – Capital 

Dynamics* 

5 September 2014 Topic – Private Equity and 

Infrastructure: how it works and 

investment logic 

All PFC members 

10 Conference LGC Investment Summit September 2014 Aimed at officers and PFC members 

focussing on investment matters 

Officer and PFC 

members 

11 Conference Baillie Gifford LA conference and 

training – Edinburgh 

October 2014 Aimed at officers and PFC members 

focussing on investment matters 

Officer and PFC 

members 

12 Conference National Association of Pension 

Funds (NAPF) Annual Conference 

- Liverpool 

15 – 17 October 

2014 

Aimed at officers and PFC members 

– various speakers and workshops 

focussing on a wide range of pension 

topics 

Officer and PFC 

members 

13 Conference CIPFA Pensions Network Annual 

Conference – London 

November 2014 Aimed at officers and PFC members 

– various speakers focussing on a 

wide range of pension topics 

Officer and PFC 

members 

14 Pre-Committee training Fund manager (property) – 

Contract start date expected July 

2014 

28 November 2014 Topic – UK and local property 

investment management 

All PFC members 

15 Pre-Committee training Shareholder voting and 

engagement – PIRC* 

27 March 2015 Topic - Role of proxy voting, how 

voting is done and engagement 

made 

All PFC members 

 
* - Details and timing to be confirmed. 

 
In addition, induction training sessions can be arranged for any new Pension Fund Committee member. 
 
Additional sessions may be incorporated as required. 
 
Conference attendance: 
Pension Fund Committee members are encouraged to attend some conferences and external training events to provide a wider 
knowledge of current key topics in line with the Member Development Training Policy.  

P
age 60



 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
Meeting to be held on 29 November 2013 
 
 
 
Shareholder Voting, Engagement, and Fiduciary Duty 
(Appendices 'A' and 'B' refer) 
 
Contact for further information:  
Andrew Fox, (01772) 535916, County Treasurer's Directorate,  
Andrew.fox@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

Executive Summary 

In accordance with its policies on promoting corporate social responsibility in the 
businesses in which it invest the Fund works through Pensions and Investment 
Research Consultants Ltd (PIRC) as its Governance Adviser and the Local 
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) to both ensure that shares are voted in 
accordance with sound governance principles and influence companies' behaviour. 
 
This report provides the latest quarterly update for the Committee on the work 
undertaken on the Fund's behalf by PIRC and the engagement activity undertaken 
by LAPFF.  
 
The attached report from PIRC (Appendix 'A') covers the period 1 July to 30 
September 2013.  The Fund has voted on 392 occasions and has opposed or 
abstained in 36% of votes.  PIRC recommends not supporting resolutions where it 
does not believe best governance practice is being applied.  PIRC’s focus has 
been on promoting independent representation on company boards, separating the 
roles of CEO and Chairman and ensuring remuneration proposals are aligned with 
shareholders’ interests. 
 
The attached engagement report from LAPFF (Appendix 'B') also covers the period 
1 July to 30 September 2013.  
 
Details of potential class actions in relation to companies in which Lancashire 
County Pension Fund owns, or has owned shares is also set out in the report. 
 
An update on recent developments relating to fiduciary duty is also provided to the 
Committee. 
 
Recommendation 

The Committee is asked:  
 

1. to note the report.  
 

2. to welcome the Law Commission's review of fiduciary duty and to agree to 
review the position with regard to ethical investment and returns when the 
findings of the Law Commission are published.  

 

  

Electoral Division affected: 
'All' 

Agenda Item 9

Page 61



 
 

Background and Advice  
 
1. Shareholder Voting and Governance 
 
PIRC, acts as the Fund's proxy and casts the Fund's votes on its investments at 
shareholder meetings.  PIRC are instructed to vote in accordance with their 
guidelines unless the Fund instructs an exception.  PIRC analyses investee 
companies and produces publically available voting recommendations to encourage 
companies to adhere to high standards of governance and social responsibility.  The 
analysis includes a review of the adequacy of environmental and employment 
policies and the disclosure of quantifiable environmental reporting.  PIRC is also an 
active supporter of the Stewardship Code, a code of practice published by the 
Financial Reporting Council with the aim of enhancing the quality of engagement 
between institutional investors and companies.   
 

There may be occasions when the Fund wishes to cast a vote at a shareholder 
meeting in a way which does not accord with PIRC's recommendations.  For 
example, an investment manager might request the Fund to vote in a particular way 
to support or oppose a corporate action.  Such requests would be considered by the 
Fund on a case by case basis and PIRC instructed to cast the Fund's vote 
accordingly.   
 
PIRC also lobbies actively on behalf of its investing clients as well as providing them 
with detailed support.  It works closely with NAPF (the National Association of 
Pension Funds) and LAPFF (the forum of Local Authority Pension Funds).  
 
PIRC's quarterly report to 30 September is presented at Appendix 'A'.  This report 
not only provides details of the votes cast on behalf of the Fund but also provides a 
commentary on events during the period relevant to environmental and social 
governance issues. 
 
In addition PIRC produces a detailed document which is reviewed by the Fund's 
officers, which sets out the circumstances and reasoning for every resolution 
opposed, abstained or withheld.  This document is available on request. 
 
The Fund's voting record using PIRC as its proxy for the three months ended 30 
September 2013 is summarised below: 
TABLE 1: GEOGRAPHIC VOTING OVERVIEW 

Geographic 
Region 

Meeting Resolutions For Oppose Abstain Withheld Non-
Voting 

SOUTH AND 
CENTRAL 
AMERICA 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

REST OF 
THE 
WORLD 

2 66 31 26 9 0 0 

ASIA 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

NORTH 
AMERICA 

7 96 59 20 6 11 0 

UK 7 136 105 12 19 0 0 

EU 6 85 34 36 8 0 6 

JAPAN 1 9 5 4 0 0 0 

Page 62



 
 

TABLE 2: ANALYSIS OF UK ALLSHARE VOTING RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

Resolution 
Type 

For Percentage 
% 

Abstain Percentage 
% 

Oppose Percentage 
% 

Total 

Annual Reports 4 57.14 2 28.57 1 14.29 7 

Remuneration 
Reports 

0 0.0 2 28.57 5 71.43 7 

Articles of 
Association 

0  0  0  0 

Auditors 
Appointment 

4 57.14 3 42.86 0 0.0 7 

Directors 55 77.46 12 16.9 4 5.63 71 

Dividend 6 100.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 

Executive Pay 
Scheme 

0 0.0 0 0.0 1 100.0 1 

 
The Fund was party to 392 resolutions during this period, of which 60% resulted in 
positive votes for shareholder resolutions and 36% were opposed or an abstention 
given.  Voting abstention is regularly used by institutional investors as a way of 
signalling a negative view on a proposal without active opposition. In addition, within 
certain foreign jurisdictions, shareholders either vote for a resolution or not at all, 
opposition to these votes is described as vote withheld. These totalled 11 within the 
period, just under 3%. The remaining agenda items required no vote. 
 

In relation to the UK, this quarter's report focuses upon the Competition 
Commission's proposals to reform the external audit arrangements of FT350 
companies, a Department of Business, Innovation and Skills report suggesting that 
stock exchange listing led to increased levels of reporting and corporate governance, 
and a leading legal firm maintaining that a director’s fiduciary duty is not to maximise 
shareholder value through tax avoidance. 
 
Within European markets, shareholders led by German investor group DSW have 
won an agreement from steel and industrial goods group ThyssenKrupp to hold an 
independent governance review. Separately, large financial services businesses 
may have to set board diversity targets under European Union plans, and Italy has 
became the first country to push ahead with introducing a tax on high-frequency 
trading.  
 
The Italian Financial Transactions Tax will be explicitly focused on high-frequency 
trading and equity derivatives, which are often used by banks and companies to 
hedge against risk. Once above the threshold, order changes and cancelations of 
high-frequency traders will now be taxed at 0.02 per cent when they occur in 
intervals shorter than half a second. The levies will apply regardless of the place of 
the transaction or the country of residence of the counterparty. 
 
Within the United States, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) is seeking 
that US companies will need to disclose how the pay of their CEOs compares to that 
of their workers. Separately, shareholders have filed a proposal to abandon the dual 
shares class structure at Twenty-First Century Fox, which also faces a resolution 
from Christian Brothers Investment Services seeking the splitting of chair and chief 
executive roles.  
 

Page 63



 
 

Elsewhere, the Australian Council of Superannuation Investors (ACSI) has published 
updated advice to corporate Australia on how it will be assessing public company 
directors’ behaviours and performance. ACSI’s Governance Guidelines, updated in 
July, provide expanded context and commentary on investor expectations of board 
practices, executive pay structures and conduct during capital raisings. 
 
China’s environmental watchdog has halted new projects by the country’s two 
largest refining companies because they missed pollution targets. The Chinese 
Ministry of Environmental Protection has temporarily banned new constructions as 
well as renovation and expansion of the existing refineries of China National 
Petroleum Corp. (CNPC) and China Petrochemical Corp., known as Sinopec Group. 
Together they account for more than three-quarters of China’s total refining capacity. 
According to the Ministry, CNPC missed a target to reduce chemical-oxygen-
demand, which is an indicator of water pollution, while Sinopec missed a target to 
reduce nitrogen-oxide emissions, a metric for air pollution.  
 
The bans are a rather unusual step by the Chinese authorities, which shows that 
Beijing is stepping up environmental scrutiny of state-owned companies after 
mounting public discontent over environmental pollution in China. In January, this 
year, Beijing and several other locations suffered from severe air pollution and 
cadmium-tainted rice has been discovered in supplies in the southern province of 
Guangdong. 
 

2. Shareholder Engagement through LAPFF 
 
Lancashire County Pension Fund is also a member of the Local Authority Pension 
Fund Forum (LAPFF), which exists to promote the investment interests of local 
authority pension funds, and to maximise their influence as shareholders whilst 
promoting social responsibility and corporate governance at the companies in which 
they invest. 
 
Members of the Committee may be interested to note the attached engagement 
report from LAPFF (Appendix 'B') which covers the period 1 July to 30 September 
2013. 
 
It sets out details of their activities in influencing governance, employment standards, 
reputational risk, climate change, finance and accounting, and Board composition, 
and provides a slightly different and wider perspective than the PIRC report. 
 
3. Class Actions 
 
United States 
 
The Fund has appointed Barrack, Rodos and Bacine (BR&B) to provide a US class 
actions monitoring service with the aim of ensuring that the Lancashire County 
Pension Fund receives all monies due to the Fund by filing its proof of claim from 
these cases. This service is at no cost to the Fund. 
 
BRB will identify class actions where the Fund has a potential loss arising from an 
alleged fraud or a securities law violation. This is achieved by the BR&B 'BEAMS' 
monitoring system which follows each securities case from the beginning to the end 
by ensuring its filing of the proof of claim so that the Fund may receive its payment. 

Page 64



 
 

Occasionally the Fund may be asked to participate in a class action, and/ or to apply 
to become the lead or co-lead plaintiff, but under US law any shareholder subject to 
such a loss will be automatically entered into and benefit from a class action without 
having to file an individual claim. 

Details of current potential US cases as at 30 September 2013 are set out below: 
 

Company Name 

Effective 
Class 
Period 
Begin 

Effective 
Class 
Period 

End 
Case 

Status 

Potential 
loss 

incurred 
($'000) 

Medtronic, Inc. 08/12/10 03/08/11 ACTIVE 27.71 

CenturyLink, Inc. 08/08/12 14/02/13 ACTIVE 521.63 

Barrick Gold Corp. 07/05/09 23/05/13 ACTIVE 411.36 

Intuitive Surgical, Inc. 19/10/11 18/04/13 ACTIVE 251.54 
ITT Educational 
Services, Inc. 24/04/08 25/02/13 ACTIVE 760.06 

 
United Kingdom 
 
Unlike class actions within the US jurisdiction, where all relevant recipients benefit 
from a class action when filed, class actions within the UK require investors to file 
their actions individually in order to potentially benefit from a successful class action. 
Such actions are therefore much less prevalent. 
 
As reported at the previous meeting, and in keeping with the majority of other 
affected LGPS, the Fund is keeping a watching brief over developments in relation to 
Royal Bank of Scotland in relation to alleged actions that, it is argued, caused 
investors to suffer losses relating to a subsequent Rights Issue on 30 April 2008. The 
deadline for filing a claim, after which the case would be statute-barred, remains 
April 2014. 
 
4. Fiduciary duty update 
 
Following discussion of fiduciary duties at the March 2013 meeting of the Committee, 
there has been activity on a number of fronts relating to LGPS funds, much of which 
arises from many administering authorities taking on responsibility for Public Health 
from April 2013. 
 
The previous report on fiduciary duty, presented to this Committee in March 2013, 
considered the question of whether a conflict arose between the County Council's 
then imminent take-on of public health responsibilities, the role of the County Council 
as administering authority for the Fund and the Fund's responsibilities regarding 
fiduciary duty. It also set out the Lancashire County Pension Fund's position, similar 
to that of Norfolk Pension Fund below, of maintaining a policy of voting and 
engagement with companies whose shares are held. 
 
Committee members were informed in March that in order to meet its fiduciary 
duties, the Pension Fund cannot unilaterally decide to divest from an individual 
investment type without regard to the overall objectives of the Fund, or without taking 
appropriate professional advice including risk and return considerations. A decision 
to exclude particular investments on ethical grounds (and thus affect potential 
financial return) could be subject to legal challenge. Securing a decent financial 

Page 65



 
 

return in order to meet future commitments to beneficiaries is the primary objective of 
a pension fund. 
 
Since then, work across the LGPS has been ongoing in relation to this issue. In 
October 2013, a sub-committee of the newly created LGPS Shadow Advisory Board 
considered the issue and decided upon a number of actions: 
 

• The approach taken by Norfolk Pension Fund (links below) should be 
circulated to LGPS Funds as the basis of interim information; 

• Counsel's opinion should be sought on the legal status of LGPS funds 
with regard to fiduciary duty and the limit of broader ethical 
considerations. 

 
http://www.norfolk.gov.uk/view/pensions250912item6pdf (Report); and  

 
http://www.norfolk.gov.uk/download/pensions250912minspdf (Minutes) 

 
Essentially, Norfolk Pension Fund Committee recommended that: 
 

• In light of the new local authority responsibilities for Public Health from 
April 2013, this Committee informs the Department for Communities and 
Local Government (as Regulator of the LGPS) of its consideration of this 
matter and the potential complexities and conflicts of interest for local 
authorities between their public health responsibilities and investments by 
LGPS Funds in the tobacco sector. 

• The Committee monitors the outcome of the proposals within the Kay 
review of UK Equity Markets and Long-Term Decision Making which 
suggests further work should be undertaken by the Law Commission into 
the legal concept of fiduciary duty as applied to investment. 

• The Norfolk Pension Fund maintains its current policy of voting and 
engagement and does not pursue exclusion of tobacco holdings but that 
the situation is reviewed when the legal position relating to the exercise 
of the Committee’s fiduciary duty is clarified. 

 
Subsequently, the Law Commission has recently issued its consultation paper on 
fiduciary duty as it applies throughout the investment chain, with a closing date of 22 
January 2014. Amongst other things, the paper asks if: 
 

• The law is right to allow trustees to consider ethical issues only in limited 
circumstances? 

• The legal obligations on trustees are conducive to investment strategies 
in the best interests of the ultimate beneficiaries? And if not, what 
specifically needs to be changed? 

 
It is suggested that the Fund welcomes the prospect of greater clarity over fiduciary 
duty that these developments are intended to provide, and it is proposed that 
Lancashire County Pension Fund reviews the position when the outcome of the Law 
Commission's review of fiduciary duty is published.  
 
 

Page 66



 
 

Consultations 
 
N/A 
 
Implications:  
 
It is a key component of good governance that the Fund is an engaged and 
responsible investor complying with the Stewardship Code. 
 
Well run responsible companies are more likely to be successful and less likely to 
suffer from unexpected scandals. 
 
In order to meet its fiduciary duties, the Pension Fund cannot unilaterally decide to 
divest from an individual investment type without regard to the overall objectives of 
the Fund, or without taking appropriate professional advice including risk and return 
considerations. A decision to exclude particular investments on ethical grounds (and 
thus affect potential financial return) could be subject to legal challenge. 
 
Risk management 
 
The promotion of good responsible corporate governance in the companies the Fund 
is invested in reduces the risk of unexpected losses arising as a result of poor over-
sight and lack of independence. 
 
Involvement in a non-US class action may result in losses incurred being recovered 
for the Fund, but should a case be lost then the Fund may incur related costs which 
may not be known with certainty at the time of filing. Applying for lead plaintiff status 
in the US may incur significant officer time and resources in bring a potential case to 
fruition. 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 
 
N/a   
   
   
 
 

Page 67



Page 68



Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



 

 

QUARTERLY 
ENGAGEMENT 
REPORT 
J U L Y  T O  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 3  

 

 

 Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 

 

LAPFF exists to promote the investment interests of local authority 

pension funds, and to maximise their influence as shareholders 

whilst promoting social responsibility and corporate governance at 

the companies in which they invest. Formed in 1990, the Forum 

brings together a diverse range of local authority pension funds in 

the UK with combined assets of over £115 billion. 
 

Page 97



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 1 

ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY 
J U L Y  T O  S E P T E M B E R  2 0 1 3  

 

 

  

 

Topics 

Board Composition 

Employment Standards 

Social Risk 

Remuneration 

Climate Change 

Governance 

Finance & Accounting 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 

Sent Letter 

Meeting 

Received Letter 

Attended AGM 

Activities 

Company Contact 

Chairperson 

Non-Exec Director 

Specialist Staff 

Outcomes 

Substantial Improvement 

Change in Process 

Dialogue 

Awaiting Response 

Page 98



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 2 

ACHIEVEMENTS 
· Attended the annual meeting of Marks & Spencer to express support for the Chairman 

Robert Swannell and the CEO, Mark Bolland. Held meetings with three companies 
identified in our annual global focus list: Burberry, Bellway and Imagination 
Technologies. 

· Met with Sainsbury’s plc to enquire about the impact of the Bangladesh factory tragedy 
on its supply chain and sourcing practices. Met with Lonmin to discuss ongoing 
challenges at the Marikana mine and the efforts by the company to settle the union 
dispute and improve working conditions.  

· Focussed on carbon emission management with National Grid chair, the company 
subsequently improved its CDP scoring, as did Rio Tinto, with whom the Forum met 
earlier in the year.  

· Received responses from Lloyds, HSBC and Standard Chartered on their views on 
the impact of the Bompas QC opinion on the legality of IFRS. Barclays replied last 
quarter. 

· Corresponded with Kier Group about the recent concerns that UK companies were 
involved in blacklisting staff that raised health and safety concerns with management. 

· Advocated in favour of mandatory audit re-tendering in a letter to the UK Competition 
Commission.  

  

THE FORUM IN THE NEWS 

Investors question the credibility of IFRS 
Compliance Week, The Telegraph 

LAPFF attends Marks & Spencer AGM  
The Telegraph, Herald Scotland, Euronews 

Climate change collaborative engagement with Rio Tinto 
Responsible Investor 

LAPFF maintains pressure on executive pay 
Professional Pensions 

Investors want better tax disclosure from extractive companies 
aiCIO 

Page 99



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 3 

COMPANY ENGAGEMENT 

LEADERSHIP ON KEY CAMPAIGNS 

Four years after tabling a resolution at the Marks & Spencer annual 

meeting seeking an independent chair, LAPFF returned to the M&S AGM 

this year to express its support for the board, the leadership of Robert 

Swannell and the governance changes the company has made. LAPFF is 

aware of the pressures the company is under to turn around its clothing 

business and upgrade its IT and logistics infrastructure, but believes that 

taking a long-term view of the company’s strategy is most prudent.  

The Forum also continues to follow the phone hacking scandal. During the quarter, News 

Corporation shareholders approved a break-up of the company. The television and 

entertainment business is now owned by the surviving entity which was renamed 21st Century 

Fox, and the publishing and newspaper business is owned by a new entity going by the name 

of News Corporation. Rupert Murdoch remains Chair and CEO of 21st Century Fox, and the 

Chairman of News Corporation. The original resolution filed at News Corp to appoint an 

independent Chair, which is supported by LAPFF, will be on the ballot at the October annual 

meeting of 21st Century Fox, the surviving entity. 

Finally, LAPFF wrote to the Lead Director of JP Morgan welcoming the more robust powers 

granted to him, but re-iterating our request that the Company appoint an independent Chair. 

PROMOTING GOOD GOVERNANCE 

Global Focus List  

In our governance engagement, LAPFF followed up with several companies we corresponded 

with during the proxy season. In a meeting with Imagination Technologies LAPFF expressed 

concerns about executive pay, board diversity, director nominations, and poll voting. The 

company has grown significantly in recent years and is in the process of revising its 

governance to keep pace with this change.  

LAPFF approached Bellway plc regarding its director nomination process and the decision to 

appoint the CEO as Chair while delaying the vote on his re-election until 2014. LAPFF also 

discussed its views on Board diversity in the meeting and was encouraged by the company’s 

recruitment process and the number of women on its recruitment short-list.   

  

Page 100



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 4 

Financial Reporting & Audit  

Following the publication of the Bompas QC opinion on 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) last 

quarter, LAPFF continued to campaign for 

improvements to the financial accounting standards. 

Bompas highlighted serious issues regarding IFRS that 

have implications for director duties. 

LAPFF wrote a follow up letter to each of the banks 

seeking their views on the Bompas opinion. Each bank 

responded to our letter indicating they were aware of the 

opinion and were currently considering the report of the Parliamentary Commission on 

Banking Standards. They also indicated they were waiting for more guidance from the Bank 

of England, the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority before 

formulating a further response.   

Executive Pay 

Following on the successful launch of LAPFF’s new Expectations for 

Executive Pay, we held meetings with Afren and Burberry to discuss 

each company’s approach to executive pay. Afren recently lost its 

remuneration vote by a wide margin confirming shareholders’ ongoing 

concerns about pay at the company. LAPFF had last met with Afren in 

2012 to discuss pay. In the meeting this quarter LAPFF sought an 

explanation of the poor vote results from the new remuneration 

committee chair and expressed concerns about the pay structure, 

performance conditions, and discretionary bonuses. While the company 

is in the process of reforming its pay, this is a company LAPFF will 

continue to watch. 

A meeting has been arranged with Burberry due to concerns about the company’s adjusted 

profit measures and the impact this had on pay in the year. LAPFF also has questions about 

the board, and the plans for appointing new independent non-executive directors. 

MANAGING ENVIRONMENTAL RISK 

Climate Change  

As part of the ‘Aiming for A’ coalition with other investors, LAPFF is advocating that major UK-

listed utility and extractive companies make carbon management an integral part of the 

business strategy. Companies are encouraged to aim for inclusion in CDP’s Climate 

Performance Leadership Index (CPLI) by achieving an ‘A’ rating. 

At a meeting with the Chairman of National Grid, LAPFF supported progress on governance, 

strategy and target-setting, as well as initiatives contributing to emission reductions. The 

Aiming for A Investor Group 

‘It is our collective fiduciary duty 

to engage in transformational 

change, through amplifying long-

term investor voices on climate 

change.’ 

 

Page 101



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 5 

company has subsequently raised its CDP rating from a ‘C’ to a ‘B’.  The rating for Rio Tinto 

which the Forum engaged with in the last quarter, also improved from a ‘C’ in 2012 to a ‘B’ in 

2013. 

A meeting with representatives from Royal Dutch Shell, included discussion of action the 

company can take relating to its Scope 3 emissions (those related to commercial activities) 

which are much larger than their direct emissions. The company remained a ‘B’ in the 2013 

scorings which were revealed in September. Taking into account feedback from a range of 

company meetings, the group is encouraging CDP to develop sector frameworks, to more 

closely reflect the strategic challenges unique to the energy, materials and utilities sectors.  

In September, LAPFF joined other investors representing almost $3 trillion in assets under 

management writing to the world’s 50 largest energy and power companies on carbon asset 

risk. Companies were asked to disclose information on capital expenditure plans and the risks 

associated with development and use of reserves in light of the emerging stranded assets 

debate.  

TARGETING SOCIAL ISSUES 

Employment Standards  

The RANA Plaza factory collapse in Bangladesh has had 

a significant impact on how companies think about factory 

safety. Following our meeting with Asscociated British 

Foods last quarter, LAPFF wrote to Sainsbury’s, Tesco, 

Next, and N Brown Group to ask how those companies 

have responded to the increased scrutiny on Bangladesh.  

Although Sainsbury’s did not have suppliers in the 

RANA Plaza, it was clear from our meeting with the 

company that they are not resting on their laurels and 

have put in place a number of initiatives to address 

building safety concerns. Next had a similar response. 

LAPFF also met with the Chair of Lonmin this quarter to get an update on the company’s 

response to the Marikana mine incident in August 2012. We were pleased to hear Lonmin has 

reached a settlement with the Association of Mining and Construction Workers. It has also put 

in place a strategy to implement the five point plan to address working conditions and 

community relations which was first announced at its January 2013 annual meeting. 

Finally, on the back of recent media reports that several UK construction firms were involved in 

blacklisting of union workers that reported health and safety concerns, LAPFF wrote to Kier 

Group to seek the companies’ views. Kier Group replied, stating that its joint venture BFK had 

agreed a statement with Unite on the issue. 

 

More than 4 million people 

work in the garment industry 

in Bangladesh. It is the 

second largest apparel 

exporter next to China. 

Page 102



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 6 

CONSULTATIONS & PUBLIC POLICY 

ENGAGING WITH POLICY-MAKERS 

The Forum exchanged letters with the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) regarding the 

Bompas QC opinion on IFRS. LAPFF has done further research on earlier FRC Opinions 

regarding the issue of true and fair view. Our research shows that the Bompas Opinion does 

not disagree with Mr Moore’s 2008 Opinion for the FRC on the law. Mr Bompas’ concern with 

the Moore Opinion is that he cannot extract a true and fair view (or fair presentation) 

requirement from IAS 1, nor is there an ability to override an IFRS in order to achieve it.  

There are issues around the 1993 Opinion of Mary Arden QC. An academic paper from 1993 

written by a former ASB and IASB board member, states that Arden QC had confirmed that 

what true and fair view meant was changeable according to the views of accountants. 

However, neither that Opinion, nor those before or after it, all from the same chambers, says 

anything of the sort. The opinions could not be more explicit that what true and fair view means 

is the same as it did when it first went into legislation in 1947. The opinions state that the 

content to achieve it is dynamic and can change, but not the meaning. The 1983 

Hoffman/Arden Opinion states that true and fair view is the standard required for the accounts 

to comply with company law irrespective of any codification of accounting methods also put 

into statute. The function of company law, and the accounts for it, is shareholder accountability 

including capital maintenance for shareholder and creditor protection (solvency and lawful 

distributions included).  

In June 1993 David Tweedie is quoted in a Financial Times article saying that the 1993 

Opinion had changed the law, giving him power to take standards in a different direction. It has 

been the false impression, created by accountants, around a legal opinion that itself is correct 

on the law that has been used to set standards, and a Framework (for both the ASB and the 

IASB) that positively deviates from company law, including masking insolvency, a situation 

entirely at odds with the law. 

On other issues, LAPFF sent a letter to the UK Competition Commission to advocate in 

favour of mandatory audit retendering and raising concerns about the concerns about market 

concentration in the audit industry.  The Forum also joined other investors in writing both to the 

US Securities and Exchange Commission and Natural Resources Canada to urge the 

adoption of a consistent global standard for all significant tax and royalty payments made by 

extractive companies across their global operations.  

In 2011, the Forum supported the US Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) authority to 

regulate carbon emissions. Via its membership of the Investor Network on Climate Risk (INCR) 

LAPFF co-signed a letter to President Obama this quarter to support carbon pollution 

standards for electric power plants, the biggest source of carbon emissions in the US. The 

EPA has now proposed new performance standards for gas and coal-fired electricity 

generation stations.  

Page 103



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 7 

The LAPFF Chair also met with the Green Investment Bank who wished to discuss the 

substantial carbon savings to be had from investments such as off-shore wind, waste and 

energy efficiency projects which provide the right level of financial returns. 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

LAPFF submitted a consultation response to the International Integrated Reporting Council 

(IIRC) on its draft reporting standards. In our response, we welcomed efforts by the IIRC and 

advocated that any future reporting standard should provide concise communication on 

strategy, governance, performance and prospects in the context of short, medium and long-

term value creation. 

As it continued to push for improved regulations on corporate governance, LAPFF responded 

to a consultation by the Department for Business Innovation and Skills (BIS) consultation 

on transparency of UK company ownership and increasing trust in UK businesses.  

All consultation responses submitted by LAPFF can be viewed online at: 

http://www.lapfforum.org/consultations. 

 

NETWORKS & EVENTS 
Representatives of LAPFF regularly attend conferences and events on behalf of members. A 

list of recent events is listed below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

§ Marks & Spencer annual meeting  

§ 30% Club Global Launch – hosted by EY 

§ Responsible Tax seminar – hosted by UK SIF 

§ Sustainable Investing best practice lecture 

§ Analysis of reporting trends in the FTSE 100 – hosted by 
Black Sun 

§ Zero Carbon Britain – hosted by the All Party Parliamentary 
Group on Climate Change 

§ Portfolio Carbon – hosted by UNEP FI 

Page 104



  Quarterly Engagement Report | July to September 2013 

© Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, 2013        Page 8 

COMPANY PROGRESS REPORT  
 

Company Topics Outcome 

Afren Remuneration, Board Composition Change in Process 

Bellway Board Composition, Governance Substantial Improvement 

Burberry Remuneration, Board Composition Dialogue 

HSBC Finance & Accounting Dialogue 

Imagination Technologies Board Composition, Remuneration Change in Process 

J Sainsbury Employment Standards, Social Risk Substantial Improvement 

JP Morgan Board Composition Awaiting Response 

Kier Group Employment Standards Dialogue 

Legal & General Remuneration Dialogue 

Lloyds Finance & Accounting Dialogue 

Lonmin Employment Standards, Social Risk Change in Process 

Marks & Spencer Board Composition, Governance Substantial Improvement 

N Brown Group Employment Standards, Social Risk Awaiting Response 

National Grid Climate Change Change in Process 

Next plc Employment Standards, Social Risk Dialogue 

Royal Dutch Shell Climate Change Dialogue 

Standard Chartered Finance & Accounting Dialogue 

Tesco Employment Standards, Social Risk Awaiting Response 

Page 105



 

The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum was 

established in 1991 and is a voluntary 

association of local authority pension funds 

based in the UK. It exists to promote the 

investment interests of local authority pension 

funds, and to maximise their influence as 

shareholders to promote corporate social 

responsibility and high standards of corporate 

governance amongst the companies in which its 

members invest. The Forum’s members currently 

have combined assets of over £115 billion.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Avon Pension Fund 

Barking and Dagenham LB 

Bedfordshire Pension Fund 

Camden LB 

Cheshire Pension Fund 

City of London Corporation 

Clwyd Pension Fund 

Croydon LB 

Cumbria Pension Scheme 

Derbyshire CC 

Devon CC 

Dorset County Pension Fund 

Dyfed Pension Fund 

Ealing LB 

East Riding of Yorkshire Council 

Enfield 

Falkirk Council 

Greater Gwent Fund 

Greater Manchester Pension Fund 

Greenwich Pension Fund 

Gwynedd Pension Fund 

Hackney LB 

Haringey LB 

Harrow LB 

Hounslow LB 

Islington LB 

Lancashire County Pension Fund 

Lewisham LB 

Lincolnshire CC 

London Pension Fund Authority 

Lothian Pension Fund 

Merseyside Pension Fund 

Newham LB 

Norfolk Pension Fund 

North East Scotland Pension Fund 

North Yorkshire CC Pension Fund 

Northamptonshire CC 

NILGOSC 

Nottinghamshire CC 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 

Shropshire Council 

Somerset CC 

South Yorkshire Integrated Transport Authority 

South Yorkshire Pensions Authority 

Southwark LB 

Staffordshire Pension Fund 

Surrey CC 

Teesside Pension Fund 

Tower Hamlets LB 

Tyne and Wear Pension Fund 

Waltham Forest LB 

Warwickshire Pension Fund 

West Midlands Pension Fund 

West Midlands PTA Fund 

West Yorkshire Pension Fund 

Wiltshire CC 

Worcestershire CC 

Report prepared by PIRC Ltd. for the 

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 

 

www.lapfforum.org  

Page 106



 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
Meeting to be held on 29 November 2013  
 

Electoral Division affected: 
None 

 
 
Statement of Investment Principles 
(Appendix 'A' refers) 
 
Contact for further information:  
Andrew Fox, (01772 535916), County Treasurer's Directorate 
Andrew.fox@lancashire.gov.uk 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
To comply with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009, the Pension Fund’s Statement of 
Investment Principles (SIP) must be reviewed and, if necessary, revised from time to 
time (and within 6 months of any material change). 
 
The Statement of Investment Principles describes the high-level principles 
governing the investment decision-making and management of the Pension Fund 
and the policy that has been developed to ensure their implementation. 
 
This latest review has been prompted by the Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government issuing a Statutory Instrument which increases the maximum 
proportion of a local government pension fund which can be invested in 
contributions to partnerships from 15% to 30%. These Regulations came into force 
on 1 April 2013.  
 
The Fund’s SIP document in the attached Appendix 'A' has been revised to 
incorporate the greater investment flexibility provided.  
 
Recommendation 
 
The Committee is asked to approve the updated Statement of Investment 
Principles, as set out at Appendix 'A'. 
 

 
Background and Advice  
 
The SIP describes the high-level principles governing the investment decision-
making and management of the Pension Fund and the policy that has been 
developed to ensure their implementation. It has been prepared, in line with 
guidance received from the Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government, with reference to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Pensions Panel publication, ‘Principles for Investment 

Agenda Item 10

Page 107



 
 

Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme in the 
United Kingdom 2012’.  
 
The only substantive revision to the SIP as set out to members is the proposal to 
increase the maximum proportion of a local government pension fund which can be 
invested in contributions to partnerships to 30%. This can be found in the table on 
page 6 of the SIP at Appendix 'A'.  
 
The 2009 Regulations set out prescribed limits on different and divergent investment 
products to ensure that local authority pension funds spread risks across a number 
of different types of investment. The prescribed limit on investing in partnerships was 
previously set at 5% for a single partnership and in total no more than 15% of capital 
value of the Fund, so as to enable these funds to take advantage of certain 
unregulated investment opportunities. Lancashire County Pension Fund has 
previously adopted the former maximum limit of 15%. 
 
One of the unintended consequences of the 2009 regulations was that it prevented 
local authority pension funds had not been in a position to further diversify their 
investments into vehicles established to take advantage of potential returns from 
investments in infrastructure. The 2013 amendment is in essence the Government's 
solution to this by increasing the proportion of funds that local authority pension 
funds can invest in partnerships from a maximum of 15% of the fund to 30%. The 
revised limit provides the Fund with additional flexibility and has been incorporated 
into the Fund's revised SIP which is attached at Appendix 'A'. It is important to note 
that this does not impact upon the Fund's investment strategy, but merely enables 
the Fund greater flexibility when reviewing the strategy and considering the 
allocation to investment categories. 
 
Consultations 
 
N/A 
 
Implications:  
 
This item has the following implications, as indicated: 
 
Risk management 
 
The Statement of Investment Principles must be reviewed periodically in order to 
comply with statutory regulation.  
 

Page 108



 
 

List of Background Papers 
 
Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 
 
Statutory Instrument 2013 
No.410 – Local Government 
Pension Scheme 
(Management and 
Investment of Funds) 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2013.  

 
1 April 2013 

 
Andrew Fox/ County 
Treasurer's Directorate/ 
x35916 

 
Statutory Instrument 2009 
No.3093 – Local 
Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and 
Investment of Funds) 
Regulations 2009.  

 
1 December 2009 

 
Andrew Fox/ County 
Treasurer's Directorate/ 
x35916 

 
Reason for inclusion in Part II, if appropriate 
 
N/A 
 
 

Page 109



Page 110



APPENDIX A 

September 2013   1 

Lancashire County Pension Fund 
 

Statement of Investment Principles  

 

Introduction 
 
Lancashire County Council (“LCC”) is the administering authority of the Lancashire 
County Pension Fund (the “Fund”).  This Statement of Investment Principles (“SIP”) 
sets out the principles governing its decisions about investments made by the Fund 
It has been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009. 
 

 

The Fund has produced the SIP following consultation with the Fund’s Investment 
Panel, and a representative of the Fund’s Actuary.  
  
Responsibility for Investment Management 
 

Lancashire County Council is responsible for administering the Fund under the 
Pension Scheme regulations 1997 (as amended). It delegates its responsibilities to: 
 

 The Pension Fund Committee;  
 The Administration Sub Committee; 
 The Fund's Investment Panel; 
 The Fund's Investment Managers. 
 The Fund's Custodian 
 The Treasurer to the Fund 

 

The division of responsibility is set out in detail in the Governance Policy Statement, 
which is available at www.yourpensionservice.org.uk or on request from the Fund, 
but in summary, responsibilities are allocated as follows: 
 

Pension Fund Committee 
 

The Pension Fund Committee has overall responsibility for investment policy and 
monitoring overall performance. The Committee meets four times a year, and 
currently comprises 14 elected County Councillors, 4 representatives of the District 
Councils and Unitary Authorities within the Fund, 2 representatives of scheme 
members and a representative of the Higher and Further Education Sectors in 
Lancashire.  
 

Investment Panel 
 
The Investment Panel consists of two independent advisors, the Treasurer to the 
Fund (as Chair), the officer of the County Council fulfilling the role of Chief 
Investment Officer for the Fund and an officer of the County Council identified by the 
Treasurer to the Fund to oversee investment compliance activities.  
 
The Panel meets at least quarterly, or otherwise as necessary. The Panel may 
operate through sub groups to undertake particular tasks.  It formulates 
recommendations to the Treasurer to the Fund and/or the Pensions Fund Committee 
through meetings of the full Panel. 

Page 111



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   2 

 
The Panel is required to provide advice to the Treasurer of the Fund regarding: 
 
a. Recommendations to the Pension Fund Committee in relation to the Investment 

Strategy for the Fund; 
b. The broad composition of the Fund's investment portfolio, management style and 

types of investment; 
c. The proposed procurement process, tender award criteria and evaluation 

methodology for external advisers and other external assistance including 
investment managers, property agents and advisors, corporate governance 
adviser, Fund Custodian, performance measurement advisers, the Fund Actuary 
and the Fund's AVC Provider ("external support") to enable the Treasurer to the 
Fund to seek the approval of the Pension Fund Committee to commence the 
procurement of any required external support. 

d. The selection and appointment of any required external support (subject to the 
role of the Pension Fund Committee), their remit and terms of office; 

e. The allocation of ranges and thresholds within which the Investment Managers 
should operate; 

f. Review of the Statement of Investment Principles and compliance with 
investment arrangements; 

g. Recommendations on the detailed management of the investment portfolios 
including the selection of pooled funds; and 

h. To oversee the performance of the investment managers appointed by the Fund 
and to report on the Fund's performance. 
 

Investment Managers 
 

The management of the Fund’s investments is structured so as to provide 
diversification of management style and produce an acceptable spread of risk across 
the portfolio whilst maximising returns.   
 
All Fund managers are subject to investment due diligence and all the segregated 
fund managers are UK FSA registered. New allocations may be made from time to 
time and Investment Managers are added to, removed or changed as necessary. 
 
The Fund's Investment Managers are listed in its Annual Report 
 
 

Role of Lancashire County Council in-house staff in respect of the accounts 
and investments of the Pension Fund 
 
Under the Lancashire County Council Scheme of delegation to Chief Officers, the  
Treasurer to the Fund, is responsible for carrying out, in consultation with the 
Investment Panel, the County Council’s duties under the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Management and Investment of Fund’s) Regulations 1998, (as amended) 
with regard to the requirement to review the investments made by the Fund 
Managers.  She reports at each meeting of the Pension Fund Committee. 
 
The Treasury and Investment, Financial Accounting and Taxation and Investment 
Compliance Teams within the County Treasurer's Directorate support the Treasurer 
in respect of her Pension Fund investment and accounting responsibilities and 
provide the following services: 
 
 

Page 112



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   3 

a. Investment management services; 
b. Production of the Pension Fund Annual Report; 
c. Preparation and maintenance of the accounts and balance sheet of the 

Pension Fund; 
d. Verification and monitoring of the investment data produced by the Fund 

managers to independent custodian records; 
e. Production of Pension Fund Business Plan; 
f. Completion of various statistical questionnaires; 
g. Preparation of agenda, working papers and reports for the Investment Panel 

meetings, Pension Fund Committee meetings and other miscellaneous 
investment meetings; 

h. Maintenance of Pension Fund internal cash account and investment of 
Pension Fund Cash not held by the investment managers; 

i. Provision of accounting data for IAS19 calculations; 
j. Monitoring compliance with policy laid down by the Investment Panel and 

Pension Fund Committee; 
k. Maintenance of regular dialogue with investment managers and custodians; 
l. The provision of data for performance monitoring and interpretation of 

performance results; 
m. The conducting of procurement exercises to secure the services of 

Investment Managers and other service providers on behalf of the Fund. 
n. The identifying of and conducting of due diligence on individual investment 

opportunities for consideration by the Investment Panel. 
o. Monitoring voting action by the managers; 
p. Advice to the Treasurer on Pension Fund Investment issues; 
q. Verification, monitoring and payment of Pension Fund fee invoices; 
r. Monitoring the receipt of income due to the Fund; 
s. Representing the Treasurer at the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum 

meetings and other relevant Pension Fund Investment meetings; 
t. Interpretation and implementation of the requirements of new legislation 

relating to Pension Fund accounting and investments; 
u. Attendance at various seminars covering new developments in respect of 

Pension Fund Investment issues; and 
v. Research initiatives 

 
Investment Objective 
 

The Fund has two objectives in terms of its investment activities: 
 

1. To ensure that resources are available to meet the Fund's liabilities through 
achieving investment performance at least in line with actuarial assumptions. 

2. To achieve full funding (i.e. no funding deficit) over a period no longer than the 
current recovery period. 
  

The current funding target assumptions include an assumed investment return 
(discount rate) of a yield based on market returns on UK Government gilt stocks and 
other instruments which reflect a market consistent discount rate for the profile and 
duration of the Fund’s liabilities, plus an Asset Out-performance Assumption (“AOA”) 
of 2.5% p.a. for the period pre-retirement and 1.0% p.a. post-retirement. 
 
The asset out-performance assumption represents the allowance made for the long 
term additional investment performance on the assets of the Fund relative to the 
yields available on long dated gilt stocks as at the valuation date. 

Page 113



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   4 

 
The allowance for this out-performance is based on the liability profile of the Fund, 
with a higher assumption in respect of the “pre-retirement” (i.e. active and deferred 
Pensioner) liabilities than for the “post-retirement” (i.e. pensioner) liabilities. This 
approach allows for a gradual shift in the overall equity/bond weighting of the fund as 
the liability profile of the membership matures over time. 
 

Types of Investment 
 
The Investment Panel ("the Panel") will provide expert professional advice to the 
Pension Fund Committee in relation to investment activities that fall within its 
approved strategy, including the following categories of investment: 
 
Equities; 
 
Fixed interest and index linked securities; 
 
Property; 
 
Cash; and  
 
Commodities 
 
Advice will include the management of foreign exchange risk and the use of financial 
derivatives where appropriate.  
 
Advice on equities will involve the use of active and passive management styles, the 
use of public and private markets, and the choice of Investment Managers and 
pooled funds. 
 
Advice on fixed interest and index linked securities will involve the use of investment 
grade and non-investment grade credit, and the choice of Investment Managers, 
pooled funds and direct investment opportunities. 
 
Property advice will include the direct acquisition of land and premises, the 
development of such land, and improvements and  refurbishment of such premises.  
It will also include the use of indirect pooled property investments. 
 
Investments in infrastructure may be separately grouped, but they fall within the 
above categories. 
  

Page 114



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   5 

Balance between Different Types of Investment 
 
The investment strategy sets out a balance between different asset classes as 
follows:   
 

Asset Class Range % 
 

Global Equities – Active and 
Passive, Physical and Index. 
Private and Publicly Quoted 

40-60 

 
Diversified Property –UK and 

Overseas. 
Direct and indirect. 

 

10-20 

 
Lower Volatility Strategies - 

 
(including but not exclusively, 

Fixed Income, PFI, Credit 
strategies, 

Infrastructure, Currency, 
Commodities, 

Absolute Return, Cash, funds 
and index, 

Local development/PPP type 
allocations) 

 

20-40 

 
 
The Active Public Equity and Fixed Interest Managers have full discretion to invest 
within each investment category subject to statutory limits and any asset allocation 
ranges around the benchmark, agreed between the Investment Panel and the 
Managers. The Property Manager's mandate is advisory with final decisions being 
taken by the Treasurer to the Fund based upon that advice. 
 
With pooled funds, the manager of the investment fund operates within the 
constraints imposed by the constitution of the pooled fund, as reviewed and 
approved by the Investment Panel. 
 
Investment Limits imposed under the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(Management and Investment of Fund’s) Regulations 2009 
 
The 2009 regulations laid down the limits shown in Column 1 and Column 2 below, 
having consolidated the previous 1998, 2003, and 2005 Regulations.  The limits in 
Column 2 may be used by Local Authority Pension Funds if, following proper advice, 
they have sought approval by their Pension Fund Committees for the increases and 
the reasons for adopting the increases are detailed in the Statement of Investment 
Principles. 
 
The Fund's Investment Panel and Pension Fund Committee have previously 
reviewed the 2009 Regulations limits and have adopted the increased limits for any 
single insurance contract and also for all contributions to partnerships. 

Page 115



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   6 

 
The 2013 amendment to the 2009 Regulations increases the maximum proportion of 
a local government pension fund which can be invested in contributions to 
partnerships from 15% to 30%. 

 Column (1) Column (2) 
 Limits under 

regulation 14 (2) 
Limits under 

regulation 14 (3) 

1. Any single sub-underwriting contract. 1% 5% 

2. All contributions to any single partnership. 2% 5% 

3. All contributions to partnerships. 5% 30% 

4. with the sum of - 10% - 

(a) all loans; and    

(b) and deposits with -   

(i)   any local authority, or   

(ii) any body with power to issue a precept of 
requisition to a local authority, or to the 
expenses of which a local authority can 
be required to contribute, 

  

which is an exempt person (within the 
meaning of the Financial Services and 
Markets Act 2000(a)) in respect of 
accepting deposits as a result of an order 
made under section 38(1) of that Act, and 
all loans.  

  

5. All investments in unlisted securities of 
companies. 

10% 15% 

6. Any single holding. 10% - 

7. All deposits with any single bank, institution or 
person (other than the National Savings 
Bank). 

10% - 

8. All sub-underwriting contracts. 
 

15% - 

9. All investments in units or other shares of the 
investments subject to the trusts of unit trust 
schemes managed by any one body.  

25% 35% 

9a. All investments in open-ended investment 
companies where the collective investment 
schemes constituted by the companies are 
managed by any one body. 

25% 35% 

9b. All investments in units or other shares of the 
investments subject to the trusts of unit trust 
schemes and all investments in open-ended 
investment companies where the unit trust 
schemes and the collective investment 
schemes constituted by those companies are 
managed by any one body  

25% 35% 

10. Any single insurance contract. 25% 35% 

11. All securities transferred under stock lending 
arrangements. 

25% 35%  

  

Page 116



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   7 

Stock Lending 
 
Stock lending is undertaken up to the 35% limit above. The programme is run by the 
Fund's Custodian, which monitors performance, limit and counterparty credit 
adherence, and voting requirements 
 
Policy on Risk 
 
The overriding objective of the Fund in respect of its investments is to minimise risk 
and maximise return while reducing volatility.  The structure of the investment 
management arrangements has been implemented in order to produce a balanced 
spread of risk for the portfolio. 
 
Operational risk is minimised by having custody of the Fund's financial assets 
provided by a regulated, external, third party, professional custodian.  
 
The Fund’s Global Custodian is Northern Trust.  All public market investments are 
held in nominee accounts of Northern Trust. 
  
All private market investments, including interests in private equity, property and 
other pooled funds are held directly in the name of Lancashire County Council as 
administering authority of the Lancashire County Pension Fund.  Northern Trust 
provides detailed investment accounting and reconciliation services for all private 
market investments. 

 
The title deeds in respect of the Fund’s property holdings are held by Lancashire 
County Council and its property solicitors 
 
The expected return on investments 
 
Each manager is expected to achieve an excess return on the assets under their 
management greater than the relevant benchmark. In assessing performance of 
each manager the Investment Panel takes in to account the long-term nature of the 
investment process and returns are judged primarily on an annualised basis over a 
rolling three-year period. The Investment Panel reviews the appointment of each 
manager at least every three years or such shorter period as may be necessary.  
The targets and benchmarks in place are as follows: 
 

 The Global Equity specialist managers have a target to outperform the MSCI All 
World index  by 2.5% (net of fees) on a rolling three year basis.  They are 
benchmarked against the MSCI All World index 

 The Government Bonds manager is expected to outperform the FTSE All  Stocks 
benchmark performance return by 0.75% (net of fees) on a rolling three year 
basis 

 The Corporate Bonds manager is expected to outperform the IBOXX sterling Non 
Gilts benchmark on a rolling three year basis. 

 Bonds and cash held for treasury management purposes are expected to 
outperform the FT 7 day LIBID 

 The Private Equity Manager has a target to outperform the median return in the 
British Venture Capital Association (BVCA) survey of Private Equity returns by 
3%.  The Private Equity benchmark is FTSE All Share 

Page 117



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   8 

 The Infrastructure managers are expected to outperform an 8% absolute 
benchmark on a rolling three year basis. 

 The Non Investment grade bond mandate is expected to outperform the Credit 
Suisse leveraged loan BB & B Benchmark on a rolling three year basis.  

 The property manager is expected to outperform the IPD All Property Index 
Benchmark return on a rolling three year basis.  
 

Monitoring and Review 
 
The investment activities of the Fund’s Investment Managers are reviewed at each 
Panel meeting and reported on to the Pension Fund Committee.  At these meetings, 
asset allocation and investment performance of the Investment Managers is 
reviewed. 
 
The WM survey of Local Authority Pension Fund returns is also used by the Fund for 
comparative information purposes.  
 
The Fund’s Actuary carries out a triennial review of the Fund and sets the employers’ 
contribution rates for each three year period.  Details of investment strategy and 
activity are an important element of the actuarial review. 
 
The Annual Report is produced by the Treasurer for all employing bodies within the 
Fund, and this report, together with various information bulletins produced in respect of 
the Pension Scheme, provides details of Investment Policy and performance relating 
to the Investment Managers.  Extracts from the Report are circulated to all members 
with the Fund’s newsletter and are posted on the Fund’s web site 
(www.yourpensionservice.org.uk). 
 
 
 
 
Policy on Realisation of Investments 
 
As the Fund is cash flow positive after including investment income, there is no need 
to realise investments in order to pay for benefits. 
 
The Fund Managers realise investments as and when they consider appropriate in 
accordance with their management discretion.  The Treasurer having received 
advice from the Investment Panel approves the realisation of pooled funds and 
properties. 
 
Where investments are held in portfolios with a discretionary investment mandate, 
the funds realised are held to the account of the Investment Manager for 
reinvestment.  In all other cases, the funds realised are as cash and managed 
through the Fund's usual treasury management processes.  
 
Social, Environmental and Ethical Considerations
 
The Fund takes an active stance on corporate governance issues.  It uses Pensions 
Investment Research Consultants (“PIRC”) to vote on its behalf at shareholder 
meetings.  PIRC advises on Socially Responsible Investment issues and issues 
voting guidance and commentary for shareholder meetings.  PIRC is instructed to 
vote the Fund's shares in accordance with its guidelines unless an Investment 

Page 118



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   9 

Manager requests a different vote for investment management reasons.  In the latter 
case, the Treasurer to the Fund will decide how best to cast the vote in the long-term 
financial interest of the Fund. 
 
The Fund is a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (“LAPFF”), which 
is a group of like-minded local authority pension funds that meet to discuss and act / 
engage in respect of Socially Responsible Investment and Corporate Governance 
issues. 
 
Principles of Investment Practice 
 
The Fund's compliance with the six principles of investment practice laid out in Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of funds) regulations 
2009 is described below: 
 
Principle 1: Effective Decision Making 
Fully compliant: The decision making process is fully outlined in the Governance 
Policy Statement, Governance Compliance Statement and Statement of Investment 
Principles.  A Pension Fund Business Plan is approved by the Pension Fund 
Committee on an annual basis. 

 
Principle 2: Clear Objectives 
Fully compliant: The overall objective for the Fund is outlined in the Statement of 
Investment Principles.  The Investment Panel sets benchmarks for measuring the 
performance of each investment and an overall benchmark for the Fund as a whole 
in order to monitor the attainment of the objectives.  

 
Principle 3: Risk and liabilities 
Fully compliant: The Investment Panel and Pension Fund Committee have 
considered the appropriate assets for the Fund following Asset/Liability studies and 
decided upon an investment strategy involving a diversification of investments 
amongst equities, property and investments offering the prospect of acceptable 
returns with lower volatility.  

 
Principle 4: Performance assessment 
Fully compliant Investment performance reports are produced by the Custodian 
monthly and by WM Company quarterly for consideration by the Investment Panel 
and the Pension Fund Committee. 

 
Principle 5: Responsible ownership 
Fully compliant: PIRC has been appointed the Fund's proxy to vote the Fund's 
shares at shareholder meetings.  PIRC votes in accordance with its voting guidelines 
unless an Investment Manager requests differently, in which case the Treasurer to 
the Fund would decide how the vote should be cast in the best interests of the Fund.  
The Fund is a member of the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum, which is primarily 
concerned with Corporate Governance issues and shareholder activism.  Voting 
action is monitored on a quarterly basis.   

 
Principle 6: Transparency and reporting 
Fully compliant: The Statement of Investment Principles outlines who is responsible 
for strategic and asset allocation decisions for the Fund and the reasons behind this 

Page 119



Lancashire County Pension Fund Statement of Investment Principles 

September 2013   10 

Structure.  It contains the current investment objective and details of the operational 
aspects of the Fund’s investments.   
The Fund provides all of its Members with regular information bulletins.  The Annual 
Report and the Fund's statutory statements are made available to all the Fund's 
employers and members through the web site www.yourpensionsservice.org.uk.  

 

Page 120



 

 

Pension Fund Committee 
Meeting to be held on 29 November 2013 
 

Electoral Division affected: 

All 

 
External Audit 
Lancashire County Pension Fund Audit Findings Report 2012/13 
(Appendix 'A') 

Contact for further information: 

Karen Murray, 0161 234 6364, Director, Grant Thornton 

karen.l.murray@uk.gt.com 

 

Executive Summary 
 

The Audit Findings Report at Appendix 'A', sets out the findings of the external 
auditor following their audit of the Pension fund Accounts for 2012/13. This report 
was presented to the Council's Audit Committee on 30 September 2013. The 
external auditor provided an unqualified audit opinion on the pension fund accounts 
following the meeting on 30 September 2013. 
 

Recommendation 

 

The Committee is asked to note the External Audit report following their audit of the 

County Pension Fund Accounts for 2012/13. 

 

 
Background and Advice 
 
Attached at Appendix ‘A’ is the external auditor's Audit findings Report following their 
audit of the accounts for Lancashire County Pension Fund for 2012/13. This includes 
reporting the outcome of their work against the main audit risks highlighted to the 
Pension Committee at its June 2013 meeting: 
 

• the appointment of 5 new fund managers and transfer of investments to them to 
use in new global equities portfolios; 

• increasing complexity of the internally managed portfolio; 

• widening of the company vehicle used to make infrastructure investments; 

• work undertaken to investigate and resolve the unexplained imbalance on the 
pension fund bank reconciliation last year; and 

• the three key elements of the fund accounts being investments, contributions and 
benefits payable. 
 

Fiona Blatcher, Audit Manager, will attend the meeting to present the report and 
answer any questions. 

Agenda Item 11

Page 121



 2

Consultations 
 
The report has been agreed with the County Treasurer. 

Implications  

This item has the following implications, as indicated: 

Risk management 

No significant risks have been identified. 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
List of Background Papers 

Paper Date Contact/Directorate/Tel 

 

N/A 

Page 122



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

The Audit Findings 
for Lancashire County Pension Fund 
 

Year ended 31 March 2013 

Karen Murray 

Director 
T +44 (0)161 234 6364 
E  karen.l.murray@uk.gt.com 

Fiona Blatcher 

Associate Director 
T +44 (0)161 234 6393 
E  fiona.c.blatcher@uk.gt.com 

Ian Pinches 

Executive 
T +44 (0)161 234 6359 
E  ian.m.pinches@uk.gt.com 

August 2013 

1 

P
age 123



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our 

attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are 

designed primarily for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 

statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all 

areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 

any control weaknesses, we will report these to you.  In consequence, our work 

cannot be relied upon to disclose defalcations or other irregularities, or to 

include all possible improvements in internal control that a more extensive 

special examination might identify. 

 

We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party 

acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as 

this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose. 

 

2 

P
age 124



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Contents 

Section Page 

1. Executive summary 4 

2. Audit findings 7 

3. Fees, non audit services and independence  16 

4. Communication of audit matters  18 

 

Appendices 

A  Proposed audit opinion on the financial statements 21 

B Proposed audit opinion on the annual report 22 

C  Draft letter of representation 23 

 

3 

P
age 125



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Section 1: Executive summary 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03.   Fees, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

4 

P
age 126



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Executive summary 

Executive summary 

Purpose of this report 
This report highlights the key issues arising from the audit of Lancashire County 
Pension Fund's ('the Fund') financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2013. It is also used to report our audit findings to management and those charged 
with governance in accordance with the requirements of International Standard on 
Auditing (UK & Ireland) 260.  
 
Under the Audit Commission's Code of Audit Practice we are required to report 
whether, in our opinion, the Fund's financial statements present a true and fair 
view of the financial position, the financial transactions of the fund during the year 
and that they have been properly prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting. 
 

Introduction 

In the conduct of our audit we have not had to alter or change  the planned 
approach as communicated to you in our audit plan in June 2013. 
 
Our audit is substantially complete although we are finalising our work in the 
following areas:  

 
• resolution of outstanding queries 
• obtaining and reviewing the management letter of representation; 
• updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the audit 

opinion; and 
• our final review procedures. 

 
  
 
 

Key audit and financial reporting issues 

Financial statements opinion 

We expect to provide an unqualified opinion on the financial statements.  
 

We have not identified any material adjustments affecting the Fund's draft 
financial position, which showed net assets of £5,011m.  
 
The key messages arising from our audit of the Fund's financial statements are: 
• the draft financial statements were provided at the start of our audit work 

and high quality working papers were made available; 
• officers were available throughout our audit fieldwork to provide additional 

supporting information in a timely manner and our audit queries were 
responded to promptly; 

• previous issues reported about the potential miss-classification of entries 
between the Council and the Pension Fund have now been resolved; 

• a number of amendments have been made to the draft financial statements 
to provide clearer and more complete disclosures. In particular these now 
better reflect the more complex portfolio of investments managed by the 
fund. 
 

Controls 

The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, 
management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and 
monitoring the system of internal control.  

5 

P
age 127



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Executive summary 

Executive summary 

 
  
 
 

Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of 
control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 
control weaknesses, we  report these to the Council.  
 
Our work has identified some minor IT access control weaknesses and 
delays in obtaining signed agreements from new admitted bodies. Further 
details are provided within section 2.  

 

 

The way forward 

Matters arising from the financial statements audit have been discussed 
with the Treasurer to the Pension Fund and officers, and where 
appropriate the accounts have been amended. 
 

Acknowledgment 

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 
assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during the course 
of our audit. 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
16 September 2013 

 
 
 

6 

P
age 128



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Section 2: Audit findings 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Fess, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

7 

P
age 129



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Audit findings 

 

 

 

 

Audit findings 

In this section we present our findings in respect of matters and risks identified at the planning stage of the audit and additional matters that arose during the course of 
our work. We set out on the following pages the work we have performed and findings arising from our work in respect of the audit risks we identified in our audit plan, 
presented to the Pensions Committee on 07 June 2013 and the Audit and Governance Committee on 25 June 2013.  We also set out the adjustments to the financial 
statements from our audit work and our findings in respect of internal controls. 

 

Changes to Audit Plan 

We have not made any changes to our Audit Plan as previously communicated to you. 

Audit opinion 

We anticipate that we will provide the Fund with an unqualified opinion on the financial statements. Our anticipated audit opinion on the financial statements is set out in 
Appendix A. We have also included our anticipated opinion on the annual report at Appendix B. 

Letter  of Representation 

We have provided the Fund with a suggested letter of representation. We are not seeking any specific representations. This is included at Appendix C. 

IAS 19 assurances 

We have completed our work to support the IAS19 assurances required by a number of scheduled bodies to the pension scheme and have not identified any issues as a 
result.  

Follow up of previous recommendations 

We have reviewed the work of your predecessor auditor in planning our audit programme, including a review of previous recommendations. This involved resolving the 
previously existing issues around the possible miss-classification of transactions between the County Council and the Fund. Our follow up work is complete and there are 
no matters that we wish to bring to your attention.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8 

P
age 130



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Audit findings against significant risks 

  Risks identified in our audit plan Work completed Assurance gained and issues arising 

1.  Improper revenue recognition 

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that revenue 
may be misstated due to improper recognition  

In our plan we did rebutt this presumption due to the 
nature of the Fund's revenue, together with  the 
strong separation of duties created by the 
independent custodian and investment managers. 

� review and testing of revenue recognition policies 

� testing of material revenue streams 

� review of unusual significant transactions 

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect 
of revenue recognition. 

 

2.  Management override of controls 

Under ISA 240 there is a presumed risk that 
management over-ride of controls is present in all 
entities 

� review of accounting estimates, judgements and 
decisions made by management 

� testing of journals entries 

� review of unusual significant transactions 

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of 
management override of controls. In particular the 
findings of our review of journal controls and testing of 
journal entries have not identified any significant 
issues. 

We set out later in this section of the report our work 
and findings on key accounting estimates and 
judgments.  

 

Audit findings 

"Significant risks often relate to significant non-routine transactions and judgmental matters. Non-routine transactions are transactions that are unusual, either due to size 
or nature, and that therefore occur infrequently. Judgmental matters may include the development of accounting estimates for which there is significant measurement 
uncertainty" (ISA 315).  

In this section we detail our response to the significant risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  As we noted in our plan, there are two 
presumed significant risks which are applicable to all audits under auditing standards. 

9 

P
age 131



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Audit findings against other risks 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Investments  Investments not valid 
Valuation of investments is 
mis-stated. Evidence of 
existence and ownership may 
not be available. Incorrect or 
insufficient disclosure. 

� obtained independent, direct confirmation of 
balances from Investment Managers, and 
Custodian. 

� Obtain independent confirmation of valuation of 
property investments. 

� 3-way reconciliation between records of the fund 
managers, the custodian, and the Fund 

� Sample testing of valuations, in particular hard-to-
value investments 

� Testing of sales / purchases in material classes of 
investments back to independent confirmations 
from custodians and  fund managers. 

� Reviewed the latest controls assurance reports for 
each fund manager and custodian 

� Reviewed the detailed investment disclosures for 
compliance with code requirements and 
agreement to underlying records. 

 

Our audit work has not identified any investments held by 
the Fund that are not valid, or where the fair value 
measurement is not correct. 

Our audit work supports the valuations of investments 
where estimation techniques and judgement have been 
applied. 

Investment liabilities of £1.9m had been incorrectly netted 
out on the face of the Fund Account within the investment 
assets figure. Officers have corrected  for this. 

A small  number of other amendments have been made 
to investment disclosures to improve clarity. (See page 14 
for more detail). 

Benefit Payments Benefits improperly 
computed/claims liability 
understated 

� Sample testing of pension payments, lump sums, 
and refunds 

� Analytical procedures rationalising pensions paid 
with changes in pensioner numbers & annual 
pension increases applicable to 12/13 

� Reconciliation of movements in membership 
statistics to transactions in the accounting records 

 

Our audit work did not identify any evidence that benefit 
payments have been improperly computed, or the claims 
liability understated. 

Audit findings 

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  Recommendations, together with management 
responses are attached at appendix A.  

10 

P
age 132



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Audit findings against other risks 

Transaction cycle Description of risk Work completed Assurance gained & issues arising 

Contributions Recorded contributions not 
correct 

� Review design of  controls regarding receipt of 
contributions at the Fund, and testing   to ensure 
these controls are operating effectively. 

� Analytical procedures rationalising contributions 
received to changes in member data and payroll 
data. 

 

Our audit work has not identified any evidence that 
contributions been recorded incorrectly.  

 

Audit findings 

In this section we detail our response to the other risks of material misstatement which we identified in the Audit Plan.  Recommendations, together with management 
responses are attached at appendix A.  

11 

P
age 133



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Internal Control 

 
Review of  Information Technology (IT) Controls 
As part of our planned programme of work, our information systems specialist team undertook a high level review of the general IT control environment at the 
Administering authority. This was undertaken as part of the review of the internal controls system and included a follow up of the issues that had been raised by the 
previous auditor, the Audit Commission. Some improvements have been made in this area, although the following are areas where the  existing IT arrangements can be 
further developed : 
 
Network access: Network log-on passwords  are still allowed to be simple (they can be all-letter, i.e. a word). This issue was raised in the previous auditors' 2011-12 
assessment. Although management have agreed to introduce stronger network  passwords, implementation has been slower than planned. 
 
Monitoring network access permissions: Arrangements for removing leavers' network accounts were previously weak.  Improvements have been made during 2012-13 
by using HR reports to identify leavers so that accounts can be deleted as they arise. However, redundant accounts for staff who left before this change was made, may 
remain on the system. A process for monitoring which network accounts have been unused for a lengthy period and disabling or deleting them has been proposed but is not 
yet in place. 
 
These areas apply to the whole of the IT controls environment for the administering authority and are not specific to the operation of the Fund. An action plan has been 
agreed which includes resolution of these issues by June 2014.   
 

Review of  Other Controls 

 
The Council's management is responsible for the identification, assessment, management and monitoring of risk, and for developing, operating and monitoring the system 
of internal control. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness.  However, where, as part of our testing, we identify any 
control weaknesses, we  report these to the Council.  
 
In addition to the IT control issues reported above we identified an issue around delays in obtaining signed agreements from admitted bodies new to the pension fund. 
During 2012/13 there were 18 new admitted bodies to the pensions fund. The Pension fund has been receiving contributions on their behalf and paying pensioners during 
this period. However as at the end of August 2013,  nine signed admission agreements from the relevant bodies had still not been received. These are all  relatively small 
bodies and the financial risks to the fund are therefore not material. However the delay in obtaining signed agreements does put the pension fund at some risk.. The 
Treasurer has agreed to consider this together with the benefits administration team to determine the best course of action to reduce these risks.  
 

 

Audit findings 

12 

P
age 134



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Accounting policies, estimates & judgements 

Accounting area Summary of policy Comments Assessment 

Revenue recognition � Contribution Income: normal contributions 
for both employee and employers is 
accounted for on an accruals basis 

� Transfers to and from the scheme: 
Transfers are recognised when they are 
received / paid. 

� Investment Income: The Fund adopts 
several different recognition approaches 
dependent on the types of investment as 
disclosed within the statements. 

� The revenue recognition policies of the Fund are appropriate and 
in line with the relevant accounting framework 

� The application of the revenue recognition policies at the Fund is 
not considered complex, and our testing has not identified any 
inappropriate revenue recognition 

� 
Green 

Judgements and estimates � Key estimates and judgements include : 

- investment valuation for unquoted, 
hard to value investments 

- pension fund  actuarial valuations and 
settlements 

� The valuation of the Fund's investment portfolio has been 
substantively tested to gain assurance that  it is not materially 
misstated 

� We have confirmed that the work of the actuary is in line with 
professional standards an regulation, and that they are a reliable 
source of estimation relating to the pension fund liabilities. 

� 
Green 

 

Other accounting policies � The Fund's accounting policies are in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting 

� We have reviewed the Fund's policies against the requirements 
of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting and do not 
have any comments to make. 

� 
Green 

 

 

Assessment 

�  Marginal accounting policy which could potentially attract attention from regulators �  Accounting policy appropriate but scope for improved disclosure �  Accounting policy appropriate and disclosures sufficient 

Audit findings 

In this section we report on our consideration of accounting policies, in particular revenue recognition policies,  and key estimates and judgements made and included with the Fund's 

financial statements.   

13 

P
age 135



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Misclassifications & disclosure changes 

Audit findings 

Adjustment type Value 

£m 

Account balance Impact on the financial statements 

1 Misclassification £1.9 
 

(£1.9) 
 

Investment assets 
 
Investment liabilities 

This was an error on the face of the fund account. The 
investment assets had been show net of liabilities. The value 
should have been shown gross with a corresponding 
investment liability reflected.  
The misclassification has no impact on the retained net 
assets carried forward.  
The investment liabilities had been accounted for separately 
and disclosed separately within the detailed disclosure notes.  

2 Misclassification (£3.1) 
(£3.1) 

Investment income 
Investment management expenses 
 

The Code requires rents from investment properties to be 
disclosed net of expenses but these had been shown gross. 
The previous years' comparators have also been amended. 

3 Disclosure N/A Investment assets A small number of amendments have been agreed  to 
provide a clearer disclosure of investments to reflect the 
more diverse portfolios which now exist.  
This has also resulted in a re-analysis of investments between 
levels 1, 2 and 3 in note 14 of the accounts.   

4 Disclosure N/A Various A small number of other amendments have been agreed to 
ensure completeness of disclosures. This included additional 
analysis of benefits payable, further disclosure of the 
relationship between the net assets and the policy for future 
promised benefits and more complete disclosures of the 
related party transactions between the administering 
authority and the fund. 

The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.  

 

14 

P
age 136



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Other communication requirements 

  Issue Commentary 

1. Matters in relation to fraud � We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit Committee and were not informed of any significant matters in relation 
to fraud affecting the pension fund.  We have not been made aware of any incidents in the period and no other issues have been 
identified during the course of our audit procedures. 

2. Matters in relation to laws and 

regulations 

� We are not aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations. 

3. Written representations � A standard letter of representation has been requested from the Fund. 

4. Disclosures � IAS 24  requires  the inclusion of an extended disclosure note about the compensation of key management personnel. The CIPFA 
code includes a specific dispensation from this requirement, instead following the regulatory disclosure requirements around 
remuneration of members and staff.  The fund has chosen to  follow the CIPFA example  pension fund accounts which refer to this 
dispensation in  the Pension Fund disclosure notes, (note 28), and  cross references the reader to the Council's main financial 
statements where such regulatory disclosures are made.  

� In our view, such a disclosure  is not  appropriate since the regulatory disclosures in the Council's main accounts include senior 
management personnel who are not involved in the management of the pension fund and will exclude some who are.  Additionally, in 
the context of the separately published  Pension Fund Annual Report., such cross referencing is not helpful.  In our view the Fund 
should either make the full IAS24 disclosures within the pension fund accounts, or  make the regulatory disclosures  set out in the 
Code specific to those key management personnel involved in the Pension Fund.  However we recognise that the position  taken by 
the Fund is not inconsistent with the Code or CIPFA's guidance (in the form of the example pension fund accounts provided by them). 

5. Matters in relation to related 

parties 

� We are not aware of any related party transactions which have not been disclosed. 

6. Going concern � Our work has not identified any reason to challenge the Fund's decision to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

Audit findings 

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards to communicate to those charged with governance. 

15 

P
age 137



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Section 3: Fees, non audit services and independence 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03.  Fees, non audit services and independence 

04.  Communication of audit matters 

16 

P
age 138



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Fees 

Per Audit plan 

£ 

Actual fees  

£ 

Fund audit 41,505 41,194 

Total audit fees 41,505 41,194 

Fees, non audit services and independence 
We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and confirm there were no fees for the provision of non audit services. The actual fee is consistent with the revised 
scale fee approved by the Audit Commission.  

Independence and ethics 

 

Ethical standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260 require us to give you full and fair 
disclosure of matters relating to our independence. In this context, we disclose the following to you:  

• a member of our team has a family member who works within the Pension Fund's benefits 
administration team. To avoid any potential conflicts, this member of our team does not undertake 
any work on the benefits payable elements of the accounts and is not responsible for the planning or 
supervision of such work.  

We have complied with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards and therefore we confirm that 
we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.  

 

 

Fees for other services 

Service Fees £ 

None Nil 

Fees, non audit services and independence 

17 

P
age 139



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Section 4: Communication of  audit matters 

01. Executive summary 

02. Audit findings 

03. Fees, non audit services and independence 

04. Communication of audit matters 

18 

P
age 140



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Communication of  audit matters to those charged with governance 

Our communication plan 

Audit 

Plan 

Audit 

Findings 

Respective responsibilities of auditor and management/those 
charged with governance 

ü 

Overview of the planned scope and timing of the audit. Form, timing 
and expected general content of communications 

ü 

Views about the qualitative aspects  of the entity's accounting and 
financial reporting practices, significant matters and issues arising 
during the audit and written representations that have been sought 

ü 

Confirmation of independence and objectivity ü ü 

A statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence,  relationships and other 
matters which might  be thought to bear on independence.  

Details of non-audit work performed by Grant Thornton UK LLP and 
network firms, together with  fees charged  

Details of safeguards applied to threats to independence 

ü 

 

ü 

Material weaknesses in internal control identified during the audit ü 

Identification or suspicion of fraud involving management and/or 
others which results in material misstatement of the financial 
statements 

ü 

Compliance with laws and regulations ü 

Expected unmodified auditor's report  ü 

Uncorrected misstatements ü 

Significant matters arising in connection with related parties ü 

Significant matters in relation to going concern ü 

International Standards on Auditing (ISA) 260, as well as other ISAs, prescribe matters 
which we are required to communicate with those charged with governance, and which 
we set out in the table opposite.   

The Audit Plan outlined our audit strategy and plan to deliver the audit, while this Audit 
Findings report presents the key issues and other matters arising from the audit, together 
with an explanation as to how these have been resolved. 

Respective responsibilities 

The Audit Findings Report has been prepared in the context of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies issued by the Audit Commission 
(www.audit-commission.gov.uk).  

We have been appointed as the Fund's independent external auditors by the Audit 
Commission, the body responsible for appointing external auditors to local public bodies 
in England. As external auditors, we have a broad remit covering finance and 
governance matters.  

Our annual work programme is set in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice ('the 
Code') issued by the Audit Commission and includes nationally prescribed and locally 
determined work. Our work considers the Fund's key risks when reaching our 
conclusions under the Code.  

It is the responsibility of the Fund to ensure that proper arrangements are in place for the 
conduct of its business, and that public money is safeguarded and properly accounted 
for.  We have considered how the Fund is fulfilling these responsibilities. 

 

 

Communication of audit matters 

19 

P
age 141



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Appendices 

Appendices 

20 

P
age 142



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Appendix A: Proposed audit opinion for the financial statements 

We anticipate we will provide Lancashire County Pension Fund with an unqualified audit report 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LANCASHIRE COUNTY 

COUNCIL 
  
Opinion on the pension fund financial statements 
  
We have audited the pension fund financial statements of Lancashire County Pension Fund for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The pension fund financial statements 
comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 
  
This report is made solely to the members of Lancashire County Council in accordance with Part II of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 48 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 2010. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority 
and the Authority's Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have 
formed. 
  
Respective responsibilities of the Treasurer to the Pension Fund and auditor 
  
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Treasurer to the Pension Fund, the 
Treasurer to the Pension Fund is responsible for the preparation of the Authority’s Statement of Accounts, 

which includes the pension fund financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom, and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 

Auditors. 
  
 

Scope of the audit of the pension fund financial statements 
  
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the fund’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the Treasurer to the Pension Fund and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the 
explanatory foreword to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become 
aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
  
Opinion on other matters 
  
In our opinion, the information given in the explanatory foreword for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
   
Opinion on the pension fund financial statements 
  
In our opinion the pension fund’s financial statements: 
give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year ended 31 March 
2013 and the amount and disposition of the fund’s assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2013 and 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 
  
   
   
  
Karen Murray 
Director 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
  
4 Hardman Square 
Spinningfields 
Manchester 
M3 3EB 
  
        September 2013 

Appendices 

21 

P
age 143



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Appendix B: Proposed audit opinion for the annual report 

We anticipate we will provide Lancashire County Pension Fund with an unqualified audit report for inclusion in 

the annual report 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LANCASHIRE COUNTY 

COUNCIL 

 

Opinion on the pension fund financial statements 

 
We have audited the pension fund financial statements of Lancashire County Pension Fund for the year 
ended 31 March 2013 under the Audit Commission Act 1998. The pension fund financial statements 
comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and the related notes. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 
This report is made solely to the members of Lancashire County Council in accordance with Part II of the 
Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set out in paragraph 48 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and of Audited Bodies published by the Audit Commission in March 2010. To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Authority and the Authority's Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we 
have formed. 
 
Respective responsibilities of the Treasurer to the Pension Fund and auditor 

 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Responsibilities of the Treasurer to the Pension Fund, the 
Treasurer to the Pension Fund is responsible for the preparation of the pension fund’s financial statements 

and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors. 
 
Scope of the audit of the pension fund financial statements 

 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
the fund’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 

significant accounting estimates made by the Treasurer to the Pension Fund; and the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual 
report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any 
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
 

Opinion on other matters 

 
In our opinion, the information given in the pension fund annual report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
 
Matters on which we report by exception  

 
We report to you if, in our opinion the governance compliance statement does not reflect compliance with 
the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 and related guidance. We  have 
nothing to report in this respect. 
 
Opinion on the pension fund financial statements 

In our opinion the pension fund’s financial statements: 
 
•       give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year ended 31 
March 2013 and the amount and disposition of the fund’s assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2013 and 
•       have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2012/13. 
 
 
 
 
Karen Murray 
Director 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor 
 
4 Hardman Square 
Spinningfields 
Manchester 
M3 3EB 
 
XX September 2013 

Appendices 

22 

P
age 144



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

Appendix C: Letter of  Representation 

Karen Murray 
Director 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
4 Hardman Square 
Spinningfields  
MANCHESTER, M3 3EB 
  
 xx September 2013 
 
Dear Karen 
 
Lancashire County Pension Fund Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2013 

 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Lancashire 
County Pension Fund for the year ended 31 March 2013 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to 
whether the financial statements show a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the Fund during 
the year ended 31 March 2013, and of the amount and disposition at that date of its assets and liabilities, in 
accordance with applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2012/13 (the Code).  
Financial Statements 
Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value, 
are reasonable. 
 
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of  the Code. 
 
All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Code requires adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 
 
We have not adjusted the misstatements brought to our attention on the audit differences and adjustments 
summary, attached to this letter, as they are [**immaterial to the Fund’s accounts at the year-end / for the 
reasons noted on the schedule / other reasons**]. The financial statements are free of material 
misstatements, including omissions. (will not be needed if aren't any) 
 
We believe that the Pension Scheme's financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis on 
the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more than adequate for the 
Pension Scheme's needs. We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Pension Scheme's ability to 
continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.  
 
We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets and 
liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 
 
 

 

We acknowledge our responsibilities for making the accounting estimates included in the financial 
statements.  Where it was necessary to choose between estimation techniques that comply with the Code, we 
selected the estimation technique considered to be the most appropriate to the Pension Fund's particular 
circumstances for the purpose of giving a true and fair view.  Those estimates reflect our judgment based on 
our knowledge and experience about past and current events and are also based on our assumptions about 
conditions we expect to exist and courses of action we expect to take. 
   
Information Provided 
We have provided you with: 
  

access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial 
statements such as records, documentation and other matters; 
additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and 
unrestricted access to persons from whom you determine it necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

  
We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 
 
We have disclosed to you our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Fund involving: 

management; 
employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

  
We are not aware of any instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and 
regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 
 
There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other regulatory bodies during the 
fund year or subsequently concerning matters of non-compliance with any legal duty.  
 
We have disclosed to you the identity of the Fund's related parties and all the related party relationships and 
transactions of which we are aware. 
  
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Gill Kilpatrick   Clare Pritchard 
Treasurer    Chair of Audit and Governance 
                                                                                                            Committee 

Appendices 

23 

P
age 145



©  2013  Grant Thornton UK LLP   |   Lancashire County Pension Fund   |   September 2013 

© 2013 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.  

'Grant Thornton' means Grant Thornton UK LLP, a limited 
liability partnership.  

Grant Thornton is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
(Grant Thornton International). References to 'Grant Thornton' are 
to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms operate 
and refer to one or more member firms, as the context requires. 
Grant Thornton International and the member firms are not a 
worldwide partnership. Services are delivered independently by 
member firms, which are not responsible for the services or activities 
of one another. Grant Thornton International does not provide 
services to clients.  

grant-thornton.co.uk 

24 

P
age 146


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 6 September 2013
	5 Investment Performance Report
	Investment Performance report Appendix A
	Investment Performance report Appendix B
	Investment Performance report Appendix C

	6 Investment Panel Report
	Investment Panel Report Appendix A
	Investment Panel Report Annex 1

	7 Actuarial Valuation of the Lancashire County Pension Fund 2013
	Actuarial Valuation report Appendix A

	8 Pension Fund Training Plan 2013-15
	Appendix A

	9 Shareholder Voting, Engagement, and Fiduciary Duty
	Fund Shareholder Voting Report Appendix A
	Fund Shareholder Voting Report Appendix B

	10 Statement of Investment Principles
	Statement of Investment Principles Appendix A

	11 External Audit report
	External Audit report Appendix A


